THE IDIOSYNCRATIC DEAL OF EMPLOYEES AND WORK OUTCOMES AT AN ACADEMIC INSTITUTION

CH Le Roux BCom Hons,	THED

Dissertation submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Magister Commercii in Labour Relations Management in the Faculty of Humanities (School of Behavioural Sciences) at the North-West University, Vaal Triangle Campus.

Supervisor: Prof. S Rothmann

Vanderbijlpark

2012

NOTE

The reader is reminded of the following:

- The references, as well as the editorial style as prescribed by the Publication Manual (6th edition) of the American Psychological Association (APA) were followed in this dissertation. This practice is in line with the policy of the School of Behavioural Sciences at the North-West University.
- This dissertation is submitted in the form of two research articles.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- I wish to express my gratitude towards my wife Stefnie who, as always, stood by me. Thanks my Love.
- Prof. Sebastiaan Rothmann who generously donated his knowledge, energy and positive attitude to ensure the successful completion of this study.
- Ms C van der Walt for the language editing of the dissertation.
- My Heavenly Father for the wisdom and insight He gave me, the people He placed in the right positions, who care, and the abundance of patience He bestowed upon me to endure the hardships encountered during the final stages of the study.
- The financial assistance received from the Vaal University of Technology and Motsoo Investments (Pty) Ltd.

SUMMARY

<u>Title</u>: The idiosyncratic deal of employees and work outcomes at an academic institution.

<u>Key words</u>: Employment contract, social contract, psychological contract and outcomes, violation of psychological contract, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit.

Every society has jobs that need to be done in order to survive and to improve its members' subjective well-being. Work is an important source of individuals' subjective well-being. Employees within higher education institutions face a complex environment and play an important role in the reconstruction and development in South Africa. Employees are experiencing more challenges in the workplace than ever before. They spend more time at work and because they have less leisure time, they have fewer opportunities of seeking meaning in their lives. These factors have an impact on the well-being and happiness of employees in higher education institutions.

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between employees' work experience, type of contract and work outcomes of employees at a higher education institution. A cross-sectional survey design was used with 483 employees at a higher education institution and a response rate of 62% (N = 300) was obtained. The measuring instruments used in this study included the Psychological Contract Across Nations (PSYCONES), Employment Contract Scale, Job Satisfaction Scale, Mental Health Continuum - Short Form and Intention to Quit Scale. Exploratory factor analyses and Cronbach alpha coefficients were computed to determine the construct validity and reliability of the measures. Pearson correlation coefficients, multivariate analysis of variance, one-way analysis of variance and hierarchical regression analyses were used to examine the relationship between the constructs in this study. Bootstrap-estimated confidence intervals were used to assess the significance of indirect effects.

The results of study 1 confirmed the validity and reliability of measures (except for the social contract). Age, tenure and gender had statistically significant effects on the fulfilment of one dimension of the psychological contract, namely work conditions. Younger people with less tenure experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions). Tenure also impacted psychological contract violation. Type of contract

(permanent versus temporary) impacted the fulfilment of the psychological contract (specifically work conditions). Males (compared to females) experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions) and less violation of the psychological contract. Tenure and type of contract were also related to experiences of the employment contract.

The results of study 2 showed that psychological contract violation, job dissatisfaction and lack of flourishing directly impacted turnover intention. Lack of psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted job dissatisfaction and languishing via psychological contract violation. The employment contract did not have a statistically significant effect on job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention of employees in a higher education institution. Psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and languishing of employees. The results of this study confirmed the important role of fulfilment of the psychological contract and non-violation of the psychological contract regarding job satisfaction, flourishing and retention of employees in a higher education institution.

Recommendations were made for future research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	Acknowledgements	ii
	Summary	iii
	List of tables	iv
	CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND PROBLEM STATEMENT	
1.1	Problem statement	1
1.2	Research objectives	8
1.2.1	General objective	8
1.2.2	Specific objectives	8
1.3	Research method	9
1.3.1	Literature review	9
1.3.2	Empirical study	9
1.3.2.1	Research design	9
1.3.2.2	Participants	10
1.3.2.3	Measuring instruments	10
1.3.2.4	Statistical analysis	12
1.3.2.5	Research procedure	13
1.3.2.6	Ethical considerations	13
1.4	Overview of chapters	14
	References	15
	CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH ARTICLE 1	21
	CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH ARTICLE 2	64

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

		Page
	CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND	93
	RECOMMENDATIONS	
4.1	Conclusions	93
4.2	Limitations	100
4.3	Recommendations	100
4.3.1	Recommendations for higher education institutions	101
4.3.2	Recommendations for future research	102
	References	104

LIST OF TABLES

Description	Page
CHAPTER 2	
Characteristics of the participants	36
Component loadings and communalities for the employment contract	40
Factor loadings and communalities for the social contract and	41
psychological contract	
Factor loadings and communalities for the social contract and	42
psychological contract	
Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the	43
principle component analysis on violation of the psychological	
contract items	
Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the	43
principle component analysis on job satisfaction items	
Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the	44
principle component analysis on intention to quit items	
Descriptive statistics, Cronbach alpha coefficients and correlations of	45
the measuring instruments	
MANOVA of the differences between demographic groups'	47
experiences of contractual relations, job satisfaction, flourishing and	
turnover intention	
ANOVA of the differences between demographic groups' experiences	49
of the employment contract	
CHAPTER 3	
	74
	77
-	
	CHAPTER 2 Characteristics of the participants Component loadings and communalities for the employment contract Factor loadings and communalities for the social contract and psychological contract Factor loadings and communalities for the social contract and psychological contract Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the principle component analysis on violation of the psychological contract items Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the principle component analysis on job satisfaction items Factor loadings, communalities (h^2) and percentage variance for the principle component analysis on intention to quit items Descriptive statistics, Cronbach alpha coefficients and correlations of the measuring instruments MANOVA of the differences between demographic groups' experiences of contractual relations, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention ANOVA of the differences between demographic groups' experiences

LIST OF TABLES (CONTINUED)

Table	Description	Page
3	Regression analyses with biographical variables, type of contract, state	79
	and violation of the psychological contract as independent variables	
	and job satisfaction and flourishing as dependent variables	
4	Regression analyses with the state and violation of the psychological	81
	contract, job satisfaction and flourishing as independent variables and	
	turnover intention as dependent variable	
5	Indirect effects of independent variables on job satisfaction, flourishing	82
	and turnover intention via psychological contract violation	
6	Indirect effects of independent variables on turnover intention via job	83
	satisfaction and flourishing	
7	Results of hypotheses testing	84

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

This dissertation is about the employment-, social-, and psychological contracts and the relationship of these concepts with employee and organisational outcomes in a higher education institution.

In Chapter 1 the problem statement is discussed. Furthermore, research objectives are formulated and the research methodology is discussed.

1.1 PROBLEM STATEMENT

Every society has jobs that need to be done in order to survive and to improve its members' lives (Gavin & Mason, 2004). Therefore, work is an important source of peoples' well-being. Employees within higher education institutions face a complex environment and play an important role in the reconstruction and development in South Africa (Cross, Mungandi, & Rouhasie, 2002; Marais, Grobbelaar, & Potgieter, 1997). Employees are experiencing more challenges in the workplace than ever before (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). They spend more time at work and because they have less leisure time, they have fewer opportunities for seeking meaning in their lives (Gavin & Mason, 2004). These factors have an impact on the well-being and happiness of employees in higher education institutions.

A need exists to explore the role of work practices in creating positive relations, positive organisations and subjective well-being (e.g. job satisfaction and well-being) (Russell, 2008, p. 128). Controversy exists on how to measure subjective well-being and studies more relied on first-person reports on numerical state (Angner, Ray, Saag, & Allison, 2009). Therefore, fundamental to the employer's survival and the employee's subjective well-being is the type of relationship that develops between employees and employers.

The employment relationship may be a fundamental source of positive social relationships and personal fulfilments, but also a source of subordination and exploitation (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). Social exchanges are predictive of employees' attitudes (job satisfaction), subjective well-being and influence their positive work behaviour (intention to quit) (Cole, Schaninger,

& Harris, 2002). According to social exchange theory (Blau, 1964), social exchanges occurring between employees and the employer go well beyond simple economic exchange and the social exchange theory is the basis for understanding employment relationships. A lack of balance in the fulfilment of obligations in this social exchange relationship might lead to negative consequences (Blau, 1964). Research on social exchange suggests that mutual high obligation relationships would yield positive attitudes, and positive experience of the exchange relationship will lead to employees repaying the employer with positive behaviour (Shore & Barksdale, 1998). A strong positive employment relationship with the employer will diminish the likelihood of employees perceiving small discrepancies between them and the organisation of what was promised as a violation of the psychological contract (Rousseau, 1995).

The employment relationship offers social relationships and personal fulfilment to employees. However, employees may experience exploitation of their rights, and inferiority in the employment relationship (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). Employees are informed about their rights and they are prepared to apply legislation to enforce their rights and it is of critical importance that employers need to manage the needs of employees or else their proliferations can undermine trust and cooperation at work (Rousseau, 2001).

The entire continuum of expectations contracting in the employment relationship consists of a combination of employment-, psychological- and social contracts (Slabbert & Swanepoel, 2001). Contracts establish and maintain the employment relationship (Barnard, 1973). Whether they are written or oral, they are promises made that legalize the exchange relationship (Farnsworth, 1982; Murray, 1974).

Rousseau (1989, p. 121) was the first researcher to focus on employees' beliefs and she defined the psychological contract as "individual beliefs in reciprocal obligations between the individual and the organisation". The exchange relationship between employees and the employer is bonded together by the employees' own subjective experiences and beliefs (Rousseau, 1990; 2001). The psychological contract is a type of promissory contract that reduces individuals' uncertainty; hence employees have a greater sense of security and it also directs employees' behaviour (McFarlane Shore & Tetrick, 1994). The key issue includes a belief that a promise has been made and a consideration offered in exchange for it, which binds the parties to some set of reciprocal obligation (Raeder, 2005).

The employment relationship is governed by what has been described as an incomplete and open-ended employment contract. Researchers in the labour law, industrial/labour relations, organisational studies and behavioural sciences fields were attracted to the concept of incompleteness of the employment contract by viewing it through the lens of the psychological contract (Keyser, 2010; Marsden, 2003). This open-endedness of the conditions in the employment relationship, which were initially bargained for by the individual employee, may be customized through an oral agreement known as the construct idiosyncratic deals (i-deals), and a shift in the original employment agreement then becomes evident (Rousseau, 2001; Rousseau 2005).

Idiosyncratic deals have been conceptualised as arrangements which are mutually beneficial in the employment relationship where the individual worker can to a great extent exercise control to accomplish personal objectives (Hornung, Rousseau, & Glaser, 2009). Employees are increasingly seeking to improve their original employment contract with personalized ideals that include non-standard conditions which will satisfy their personal needs (Lawler & Finegold, 2000).

Negotiation of these i-deals is determined by the heterogeneous needs of employees; the final agreements will therefore differ in content and scope (Rousseau, Ho, & Greenberg, 2006). Supervisors authorize the idiosyncratic deals workers negotiate and these i-deals are more than often the rewards workers obtain because of undelivered obligations (e.g. payment, promotions, work conditions) on the part of the employer (Robinson, Kraatz, & Rousseau, 1994; Rousseau, 1995; Rousseau, 2006; Turnley & Feldman, 1999).

Idiosyncratic deals can take the form of developmental i-deals (e.g. motivating employees by promising them a special promotion) and flexible i-deals whereby employees can balance their higher engagement at work with their personal and family lives (Hornung et al, 2009). Individual flexibility in the work schedule allows employees to work preferred hours and have the rest of the time available for personal development, training and social interaction with family and friends (Thornthwaite, 2004).

Fairness and trust is the key concern of psychological contracts and good employment relations are associated with the negotiation of i-deals that meet the personal needs of the employee while it still effectively contributes to the goals of the organisation (Rousseau,

2001). I-deals, when implemented in ways that reinforce workplace justice and fairness, will be accepted by other co-workers (Rousseau, 2005). The employer is held responsible for issues such as fairness and quality of life (Donaldson & Dunfee, 2002). When employees do not experience fairness, it is seen as violation of contracts. Justice, trust and fairness are important dimensions of positive relations and subjective well-being (Gavin & Mason, 2004)

A strong positive employment relationship with the employer will diminish the likelihood of employees perceiving small discrepancies between them and the organisation of what was promised, as a violation of the psychological contract (Rousseau, 1995). Fairness is the key concern of the psychological contract of which the general view is to check whether the obligations and promises by both parties are fair and can be treated with trust by both (Jensen, Opland, & Ryan, 2010). Good employment relations are associated with a positive psychological contract based on trust and fairness, and this is expected to lead to job satisfaction, well-being and retention of employees (Guest & Conway, 1997).

A *social contract* is defined as what employees believe is fair for all parties concerned at the given time set against the norms and values of the particular community they reside in. The definition given is a narrowed view of the definitions given on social contract in the literature, but one specifically created for the South African market context and that can be applied in this context (Edward & Karau, 2007). In the employment relationship it specifically refers to what employees believe the employer should honour in order to maintain a positive, fair relationship with them (Rousseau, 1995). Mills (1996) explains that the existing social contract must have a balance of equity; it must be fair to the employee and the company. With a new social contract employees have sought job security, loyalty, good faith, to be fair to them and to be respected as human beings (Maxwell, Briscoe, & Temin, 2000).

There is a wide variety of definitions on social contract, and a number of them follow below: According to Rousseau (1995), the social contract refers to things that employees take for granted and that they assume the employer should give them. Morrison and Robinson (1997) point out that the social contract is seen by employees as assumptions, norms and beliefs about appropriate behaviour with respect to a social unit. It is interesting to note that different social contracts exist. The social contract determines the relations between employers and employees, and behaviour that is appropriate to one social contract may be taboo under

another (Clark & Waddle, 1985). Morrison and Robinson (1997) believe that it is the organisation that most significantly influences the social contract that is in existence between the employer and the employee in a particular industry and more specifically the region the employee finds him/herself in.

The nature of the contract between the employer and employee affects employees' experiences (e.g. fulfilment and violation) thereof, and impacts on individual and organisational outcomes (Keyser, 2010; Marks, 2001). Research partially supports that the psychological contract mediates the relationship between perceptions of obligation, violation and work outcomes (Cavanaugh & Noe, 1999). The employment relationship includes the behaviour, attitudes, practices, and institutions that originate from or impact the relationship (Kaufman, 2004; Latornell, 2007). The beliefs that the employer and employee hold, play a critical role in the field of employment relations and also influence employees' individual and organisational outcomes (Cantisano, Dominguez, & Depolo, 2008). Employees' perceptions of the psychological contract influence outcomes such as subjective well-being and intention to quit (Diedericks, 2012; Keyser, 2010).

Little research has been conducted on the employees' experiences of the social contract (Edwards & Karau, 2007). Although it has been researched in the early 1980s (Swanepoel & Myburg, 2004), a need exists for research regarding the social contract in South African higher education institutions. Research indicates that job dissatisfaction emerges when the employee experiences that there are differences between the ideal and the actual set of obligations as agreed with the employer. The dissatisfaction experienced by the employee can lead to absenteeism and reduced organisational citizenship and can even have an influence on the employee's intention to stay (Edwards & Karau, 2007). However, little scientific information is available regarding the relationship between experiences of the psychological contract and positive work outcomes. Studies have also failed to establish a conclusive relation between type of contract and a range of outcomes, such as job satisfaction and subjective well-being (De Cuyper & De Witte, 2006).

Employees who experience positive emotions on the job will experience positive outcomes in their work role (Staw, Sutton, & Pelled, 1994). Therefore, positive emotions yield favourable work outcomes; thus the researcher proposes that positive emotions at the workplace will experience positive work outcomes in their work roles. Positive work

outcomes lead to commitment, motivation, willing contribution, productivity and satisfaction (Patterson, West, Lawthorn, & Nickell, 1997). Therefore, the following assumptions can be made: Firstly, if employees experience fulfilment and no violation of their employment, psychological and social contracts, they will experience job satisfaction and well-being. Secondly, if they experience good contractual relations (i.e. fulfilment and non-violation of contracts) and subjective well-being, they will be less inclined to quit.

Satisfaction indicates the extent to which one's experiences match one's expectations (contract expectations); hence a high level of satisfaction will be reported if people (employee and employer) have very positive experiences (Huppert et al, 2005). Attitudes at work relate strongly to outcomes such as joy (happiness, amusement, and elation), interest (curiosity, intrigue, excitement, or wonder, contentment (tranquillity or serenity)) and love (emotion felt towards other people). Heymans (2000) asserts that gender, age, tenure and qualifications affect job satisfaction. Staw and Ross (1985) believe that it is the characteristics of the individual that determine job satisfaction. Job satisfaction is the result of a combination of environmental factors (employability, job security) and individual traits experienced by the individual (Carrim, Basson, & Coetzee, 2006).

Researchers promulgate that companies must, in order to be successful in the global competition for the best managerial talent, make a mind shift from trying to keep employees from leaving, to rather attracting them – an employability approach of tempting talented people to stay on (Craig, Pham, & Bobulsky, 2008). Employees' actual behaviour is determined by their intentions, and furthermore, it is very difficult to gain access to people who have left the organisation, in order to gain a better understanding of what led them to not stay with the organisation (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980; Igbaria & Greenhaus, 1992). The situation in which they actually found themselves prior to the decision of leaving the organisation will give the employer insight into what aspects had a negative valence on the positive relationship that existed between them. Lack of job satisfaction was found to be a determining factor that most definitely leads to an employee's final decision to not stay on in the organisation (Moore, 2002). Afolabi (2005) believes that job dissatisfaction is the main reason why employees do not wish to stay on in their jobs and start seeking better employment conditions. The question can be asked: If higher education institution employees experience satisfaction, will they demonstrate less intention to quit?

According to social contract theory, societies rest on an agreement that binds individuals into fundamental rules and structures through social contracts (Levy, 2008). The social contract between the employer and employee is perceived when cognitively assessing the contract between him and the employer and what is actually in the employment agreement and what is actually received (Coyle-Shapiro, 2002). A definite relationship exists between the affective state of the employee and what he believes the employer has fulfilled concerning the psychological contract. Therefore, psychological contract fulfilment or non-fulfilment between the parties may lead to positive and negative fulfilment and affect the coherence within the workplace (Guerrero & Herrbach, 2008).

In an ever-changing environment there is a need to have a focused and positive approach to employment relations (Guest & Conway, 1997). Scientific information is needed on whether employees' work experiences influence their levels of agreement within the different types of contracts (i.e. the employment contract, psychological contract and social contract). It is also not clear what the relationships among employees' work experience, type of contract and work outcomes are. Scientific information is also needed to assess the extent and nature of employees' experiences of positive work outcomes such as well-being, job satisfaction, and intention to stay and how these relate to the different types of contracts.

From the above problem statement the following more specific research questions are posed:

- How are the employment contract, psychological contract, social contract, violation of contract, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit, conceptualised?
- How do employees' work experiences relate to their levels of agreement with the different types of contracts (employment contract, social contract and psychological contract)?
- What are the relationships between types of contracts, biographical information, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit?
- Do fulfilment and violation of psychological contracts result in lower job satisfaction and well-being and a higher intention to quit?

This study will make the following contribution to the field of employment relations: Firstly, reliable and valid measurement instruments will be developed. Secondly, valid models will be developed on different types of contracts and positive work outcomes. Thirdly, new

scientific information will be available regarding the relationship between employees' work experiences, type of contract (employment contract, psychological contract and social contract) and positive work outcomes, including job satisfaction, well-being and intention to stay. Lastly, it will contribute to knowledge in South Africa regarding the different types of contracts and work outcomes.

1.2. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The research objectives are divided into general and specific objectives.

1.2.1 General objectives

The purpose of this study is to examine whether employees' work experiences, such as violation of the contract, influence employees' levels of agreement with different types of contracts (employment contract, psychological contract and social contract), violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to stay.

1.2.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of the study are to:

- Conceptualise the employment contract, psychological contract, social contract, violation
 of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, well-being, intention to quit, and the
 relationship between these constructs.
- Investigate the relationship among demographic variables, types of contracts, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit.
- Investigate the relationship among the fulfilment of contracts by employers and violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit.
- Determine whether fulfilment and violation of contract indirectly affect job satisfaction,
 well-being and intention to quit.

1.3 RESEARCH METHOD

The research method for two articles submitted for purposes of this dissertation consists of a phase 1 (brief literature review) and a phase 2 (an empirical study).

1.3.1 Literature review

A literature review will be conducted regarding different types of contracts within the workplace, violation of contract, job satisfaction and intention to stay. The sources that will be consulted include peer reviewed journal articles, text books, dissertations and theses, internet sources, and reference lists of journals.

The literature review of Article 1 will focus on the relationship between demographic variables, the different types of contracts (employment contract, social contract and psychological contract), job satisfaction, well-being, and intention to quit.

The literature review of Article 2 will focus on the contractual relations (including the fulfilment of the employment and psychological contracts, violation of obligations) and the job satisfaction, well-being and turnover intention of employees at a higher education institution.

1.3.2 Empirical study

The empirical study consists of the research design, participants, data collection method and statistical analysis.

1.3.2.1 Research design

Research design is a strategic action and it is used to provide a link between the research questions and execution and implementation of the research (Durheim, 2007). The research design can enable the researcher to have a plan that will guide him in the collection and analysis of data in a way that is relevant to the research purpose.

In Articles 1 and 2, a cross-sectional survey design is used to reach the research objectives. With a cross-sectional survey design a sample is drawn from a population at a specific time to describe the population. This descriptive and exploratory design can be used to investigate the interrelationships among variables in the sample at one point in time without any planned intervention (Shaughnessy & Zechmeister, 1997).

1.3.2.2 Participants

In this study, a random sample of employees at a higher education institution will be targeted (N = 483). Distribution and collection of the questionnaires will be done in cooperation with the personnel assistants at the various departments at the higher education institution.

The sample will comprise participants from both gender groups and will include employees at different levels of education. The participants will also be different in terms of age, marital status and race.

1.3.2.3 Measuring instruments

The following questionnaires will be used in the empirical study:

A biographical questionnaire will be used to obtain characteristics of the participants concerning their age, race, gender, type of contract, educational level, marital status, dependants, position, union membership, years working for the institution.

The *Psychological Contract and Social Contract Measurement* (ECS; Edwards & Karau, 2007) will be used to measure employees' experiences of the psychological and social contracts. The ECS consists of 12-items. Six items focus on the psychological contract, while the other six focus on the social contract. Examples of items for the social contract are: "The ideal higher education institution should expect that employees will switch jobs frequently" and "Workers should be trusted to fulfil their work"; and for the psychological contract: "The higher education institution must realise that I may switch jobs frequently" and "My institution can trust me to fulfil my work responsibilities". The questions are rated on a Likert scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Edwards and Karau (2007)

found Cronbach alpha coefficients between 0.81 to 0.84 for the psychological contract and 0.72 to 0.87 for the social contract.

The *Employment Contract Fulfilment Scale* (ECFS; Isaksson et al., 2003) will be used to measure the fulfilment of the employment contract. The ECFS consists of four items which are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). An example question is "My current employment contract is the one that I prefer".

The *Employer Obligations Questionnaire* (EOQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) will be used to measure the fulfilment of promises and commitments of employers to employees. The EOQ consists of 15 items that are arranged along a 6-point frequency-rating scale with 0 (*No*) and 5 (*Yes, and promise fully kept*). Example of questions include: "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to providing you with interesting work?", and "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to helping you deal with problems you encounter outside work?"

The *Violation of Contract Questionnaire* (VCQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) will be used to measure violation of contracts. Examples of questions are: "Looking overall at how far this institution has or has not kept its promises and commitments, to what extent do you feel: happy, angry, pleased, violated, disappointed, and grateful?" The six items are rated on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Keyser (2010) obtained a Cronbach alpha coefficient of 0.89 for the VCQ.

The *Job Satisfaction Scale* (JSS; Price, 1997) will be used to measure job satisfaction. The JSS consists of four items (e.g. "I am not happy with my job" and "My organisation shows very little concern for me"). The questions are rated on a Likert scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Isaksson et al. (2003) found an acceptable alpha coefficient ($\alpha = 0.82$) for the JSS.

The *Mental Health Continuum Short Form* (MHC-SF; Keyes, 2009) will be used to measure emotional (subjective), social and psychological well-being. The MCH-SF consists of 14 items which are rated using a scale varying from 1 (*never*) to 6 (*every day*). Three items measure emotional well-being, six items measure psychological well-being and five items

measure social well-being. Acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha > 0.80$) and construct validity of the MHC-SF have been found by Keyes (2009) and Diedericks (2012).

The *Intention to Quit Questionnaire* (ITQ; Price, 1997) is a modified commitment measure using 4 items ("These days, I often feel like quitting", "Despite the obligations I have made to this institution, I want to quit my job as soon as possible"). The questions are rated on a Likert scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The Cronbach alpha in previous studies ranges from 0.79 to 0.82 (Isaksson, 2002).

1.3.2.4 Statistical analysis

The analysis will be carried out with the SPSS program (SPSS, 2011). Exploratory factor analyses will be used to investigate the construct validity of the measuring instruments. Cronbach's alphas will be computed to assess the internal consistency of the measuring instruments. Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations) will be used to describe the data. Pearson correlation coefficients will be used to investigate the relationships between the variables. The level of statistical significance will be set at p < 0.05. Effect sizes will be used to decide on the practical significance of the findings (Steyn, 1999). The cut-off point for practical significance of correlation coefficients will be set at 0.30 (medium effect; Cohen, 1988).

Hierarchical multiple regression analyses will be used to determine the amount of variance in the dependent variables that are explained by the independent variables. The procedure to determine mediation effects, as explained by Hayes and Preacher (in press), will be followed to compute the bootstrap estimated indirect effects of the employment and psychological contract on job satisfaction, well-being and turnover intention. Two-sided 95% bias corrected confidence intervals (5000 trials), and the statistical significance of indirect effects will be computed. The significance of the indirect effects was assessed in terms of zero versus non-zero coefficients rather than in terms of statistical significance only (Preacher & Hayes, 2009).

Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) will be used to investigate the significance of the differences among demographic groups' experiences of the employment-, psychologicaland social contracts as well as job satisfaction, well-being and turnover intention. MANOVA is used to explain the differences among groups on a combination of dependent variables (Albright, Winston, & Zappe, 2009; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). A low correlation between the dependant variables will mean that the use of MANOVA does not have any benefit. Only a single ANOVA then needs to be computed for one of those dependent variables. Use of ANOVA assumes that the correlations between the independent variables are weak (Albright et al., 2009; Kerlinger & Lee, 2000). When an effect of MANOVA is significant, one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) will be used to discover which dependent variables were affected.

1.3.2.5 Research procedure

Permission from the Directorate Research was obtained for the gathering of data. The questionnaires were given to the different Directors of the Faculties and were collected from them as agreed. The higher education institution will be provided with a report of the findings of the research conducted. The participants approached for this study were employees at a higher education institution. The major characteristics of this setting were that it will include only one higher education institution and the sample element comprised lecturers and administrative staff.

1.3.2.6 Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the North-West University (Vaal Triangle Campus). The Directorate Research of the higher education institution was contacted and the necessary forms were completed regarding the confidential treatment of confidential data. Permission in this regard was obtained in order to conduct the research project. Participation of the sample element [administrative and academic staff] in the project was purely on a voluntary base and no one was forced to take part. The participation in answering the questionnaire was anonymous so as to further create a safe environment for participants. A letter of consent was included with each questionnaire in which issues such as confidentiality and anonymity of results were stated. Participants will be afforded an opportunity to receive feedback on the results of the study.

1.4 OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS

The chapters in this dissertation are presented as follows:

Chapter 1	Introduction and problem statement.
Chapter 2	Research article 1: Contractual relationships, subjective well-being and
	turnover intention: the role of demographic variables.
Chapter 3	Research article 2: Contractual relations and individual and organisational
	outcomes: the role of psychological contract violation.
Chapter 4	Conclusions, limitations and recommendations.

REFERENCES

- Afolabi, O. A. (2005). Influence of organizational climate and locus of control on job satisfaction and turnover intentions. *Life Psychology: An International Journal*, 73, 102-113.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Albright, S. C., Winston, W. L., & Zappe, C. J. (2009). Data analysis and decision making: With Microsoft. Natorp, Masson. USA.
- Angner, E., Ray, M. N., Saag, K. G., & Allison, J. J. (2009). Health and happiness among adults: A community-based study. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*, 503-512.
- Barnard, C. I. (1973). *The functions of the executive*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Harvard University Press.
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and power in the social life. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Cantisano, G. P., Dominguez, F. M., & Depolo, M. (2008). Psychological contract breach and outcomes: Combining meta-analysis and structural equation models. *Psichothema*, 20, 487-496.
- Carrim, N., Basson, J., & Coetzee, M. (2006). The relation between job satisfaction and locus of control in a South African call centre environment. *South African Journal of Labour Relations*, *30*, 66-81.
- Cavanaugh, M. A., & Noe, R. A. (1999). Antecedent and consequences of relational components of the new psychological contract. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 20(3), 323-340.
- Clark, M. & Waddel, B. (1985). Perceptions of exploitation in communal and exchange relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 2, 403-418.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences* (Rev. ed). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Cole , M. S., Schaninger, J. R., & Harris, S. G. (2002). The workplace social exchange network: A multilevel conceptual examination. *Group and Organizational Management*, 27, 142-162.
- Coyle-Shapiro, J. A. M. (2002). A psychological contract perspective on organizational citizenship behaviour. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 22, 927-946.

- Craig, E., Pham C. T., & Bobulsky, S. (2008). *Rethink Retention: If you want your best executives to stay, equip them to leave*. Research Report. Accenture. Institute for High Performance Business.
- Cross, M. Mungadi, R., & Rouhani, S. (2002). From policy to practice: Curriculum reform in South African education. *Comparative Education*, *38*, 171-187.
- De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2006). The impact of job insecurity and contract type on attitudes, well-being and behavioural reports: A psychological contract perspective. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 79, 395-409.
- Diedericks, E. (2012). Flourishing of employees in the information technology industry in South Africa. (Unpublished doctoral thesis.) North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Donaldson, T., & Dunfee, W. (2002). Ties that bind in business ethics: Social contracts and why they matter. *Journal of Banking and finance*, *26*, 1853-1865.
- Durheim, K. (2007). Producing expertise and achieving attribution in the context of computer support. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *47*, 727-762.
- Edwards, J. C., & Karau, S. J. (2007). Psychological contract or social contract? Development of the Employment Contracts Scale. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 13, 67-78.
- Farnsworth, E.A. (1982). Contracts. Boston, MA: Little, Brown.
- Gavin, J. H., & Mason, R. O. (2004). The virtuous organisation: The value of happiness in the workplace. *Organizational Dynamics*, *33*, 379-392.
- Guerrero, S., & Herrbach, O. (2008). The affective underpinning of the psychological contract fulfilment. *Journal of Management Psychology*, 23, 4-17.
- Guest, D. E., & Conway, N. (1997). *Motivation and the psychological contract*. Issues in People Management. No 21, IPD, London.
- Hayes, A. F., & Preacher, K. J. (in press). Indirect and direct effects of a multicategorical agent in statistical mediation analysis. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Heymans, D. R. (2000). *Job insecurity, job satisfaction and organizational commitment*. (Unpublished masters' dissertation.) Potchefstroom University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Hornung, S., Rousseau, D.M., & Glaser, J. (2009). Why supervisors make idiosyncratic deals: antecedents and the outcomes of i-deals from a managerial perspective. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24, 738-764.

- Huppert, F., Marks, N., Clark, A., & Siegrist, J., Stutzer, A., & Vitterso, J. (2005). Personal and social well-being module. For the European Social Survey. NC8 Paper 3b.
- Igbaria, M., & Greenhaus, J. H. (1992). Determinants of MIS employees' turnover intentions: a structural equation model. *Communications of the ACM*, *35*, 35-49.
- Isaksson, A., (2002). Trade credit in Kenyan manufacturing: Evidence from plant level data. Working paper. www.unido.org./userfiles/PuffK/SIN_WPS04.pdf
- Isaksson, K., Bernhard, C., Claes, R., De Witte, H., Guest, D., Krausz, M., Peiro, J. M., Mohr, G., & Schalk, R. (2003). PSYCONES. Results from pilot phase. Working Paper 2-HPSE-CT-2002-00121 Date of issue: 2003/09/15.
- Jensen, J. M., Opland, R. A., & Ryan, A. M. (2010). Psychological contracts and counterproductive work behaviors: Employee responses to transactional and relational breach. *Journal of Business Psychology*, 25, 255-268.
- Kaufman, B. (2004). Employment relations and the employment relations system: A guide to theorizing. In B. Kaufman (Eds.), *Theoretical perspectives on work and the employment relationship* (pp. 41-75). Campaign: IRRA.
- Kerlinger, F. N., & Lee, h. B. (2000). *Foundations of behavioral research* (4th ed.). Progressive Information Technologies. Crawfordsville.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2009). Atlanta: Brief description of the mental health continuum short form (MHC-SF). Available: http://www.sociology.emory.edu/ckeyes/. [On-line, retrieved 14 December 2010].
- Keyser, E. (2010). The changing employment relationship in the chemical industry: The role of employment and psychological contract. (Unpublished doctoral thesis). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Latornell, J. (2007). The relationship between the "psychological contract" and "employment relations". *Journal of Industrial Relations*, 49(2), 277-286.
- Lawler III, E. E., & Finegold, D. (2000). Individualizing the organization: past, present, and future. *Organizational Dynamics*, 29(1), 1-15.
- Levy, J. T. (2008). Not so novus an ordo: Constitutions without social contracts. *Political Theory*, 1-27.
- Marais, H. C., Grobbelaar, J. W., & Potgieter, K. M. (1997). *Critical issues in South African higher education reform*. Pretoria: SAUVCA Publications Series.
- Marks, A. (2001). Developing a multiple foci conceptualization of the psychological contract. *Employee Relations*, 23(4), 454-467.

- Marsden, D. 2003. The 'network economy' and models of the employment contract: economic, legal and psychological. International Relations Association Conference, Berlin. September, 2003.
- Maxwell, J., Briscoe, F., & Temin, P. (2000). Corporate health care purchasing and the revised social contract with workers. *Business Society*, *39*, 281-303.
- McFarlane Shore L. & Tetrick, L. E. (1994). The psychological contract as an explanatory framework in the employment relationship. *Trends in Organizational Behaviour*, 1, 91-109.
- Mills, D. Q. (1996). The changing social contract in American business. *European Management Journal*, 14, 451-456.
- Moore, J. E. (2002). One road to turnover: An examination of work exhaustion in technology professionals. *MIS Quarterly*, *24*, 141-168.
- Morrison, E & Robinson. S. (1997). When employees feel betrayed: A model of how psychological contract violation develops. *Academy of Management Review*, 22, 226-256.
- Murray, J. E. (1974). Contracts. New York, NY: Bobbs-Merril.
- Oishi, S., Diener, E., & Lucas, R. E. (2007). The optimum level of well-being: Can people be too happy? *Perspective on Psychological Science*, *2*, 346-340.
- Patterson, M. G., West, M.A., Lawthom, R.E., & Nickell, S. (1997). Impact of people management practices on business performance. *People Management*, 22.
- Paz-Fuchs, A. (2009). The social contract revisited. Work, employment and industrial relations in the modern social contract state. Oxford, United Kingdom: The Foundation of Law, Justice and Society.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediational analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76, 408–420.
- Price, J. L. (1997) Handbook of organisational measurement. *International Journal of Manpower*, 18, 532-537.
- Raeder, S. (2005). The fairness of the psychological contract in the context of work flexibility: A multilevel approach. Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich: Organisation Work and Technology Group. Zurich: Switzerland.
- Robinson, S. L., Kraatz, M. S., & Rousseau, D. M. (1994). Changing obligations and the psychological contract: A longitudinal study. *The Academy of Management Journal 37*, 137-152.

- Rousseau, D. M. (1989). Psychological and implied contracts in organizations. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 2(2):121-139.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1990). New hire perceptions of their own and their employer's obligations: a study of psychological contracts. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 11, 389-400.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1995). *Psychological contracts in organizations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rousseau, D. E. (2001). Schema, promises and mutuality: The building blocks of the psychological contract. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74: 511-541.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2001). The idiosyncratic deal: Flexibility versus fairness? *Organizational Dynamics*, 29, 260-273.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2005). *I-deals: Idiosyncratic deals employees bargain for themselves*. New York, NY: Sharpe.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2006). "The shift in risk from employers to workers in the new employment relationship". In E. E. Lawler, & J. O'Toole (Eds.), *America at work: Choices and challenges* (pp. 153-172). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rousseau, D. E., Ho, V. T., & Greenberg, J. (2006). I-deals: Idiosyncratic terms in employment relationships. *Academy of Management*, *31*, 977-994.
- Russel, J. E. A. (2008). Promoting subjective well-being at work. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 16, 117-131.
- Schaughnessy, J. J., & Zechmeister, E. B. (1997). *Research methods in psychology* (4th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Shore, L. M., & Barksdale, K. (1998). Examining degree of balance and level of obligations in the employment relationship: a social exchange approach. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 731-744.
- Slabbert, J. A., & Swanepoel, B. J. (2001). *Introduction to employment relations management*. Durban, South Africa: Butterworths.
- SPSS Inc. (2011). SPSS 19.0 for Windows. Chicago, IL: SPSS Inc.
- Staw, B.M., Sutton, R.I., & Pelled, L.H. (1994). Employee positive emotion and favourable outcomes at the workplace. *Organizational Science*, *5*, 51-71.
- Staw, B. M., & Ross, J. (1985). Stability in the midst of change: A dispositional approach to job attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(3), 469-480.

- Steyn, H. S. (1999). *Praktiese betekenisvolheid: Die gebruik van effekgroottes*. Wetenskaplike bydraes-Reeks B: Natuurwetenskappe Nr 117. Potchefstroom: PU vir CHO.
- Swanepoel, B. J., & Myburg, P. A. (2004). *The management of employment relations and contextual relations: Conceptual and contextual perspectives*. Durban: Butterworths.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Thornthwaite, L. (2004). Working time and work-family balance: A review of employees' preferences. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 42, 166-184.
- Turnley, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (1999). The impact of psychological contract violations on exit, voice, loyalty, and neglect. *Human Relations*, *52*, 895-922.

CHAPTER 2

ARTICLE 1

Contractual Relationships, Subjective Well-Being and Turnover Intention: The Role of Demographic Variables

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to investigate the differences between demographic groups' experiences of contractual relationships, subjective well-being and turnover intention. A cross-sectional survey design was used with 300 employees in a higher education institution. The State of Psychological Contract Scale, Violation of Psychological Contract Scale, Job Satisfaction Scale, Mental Health Continuum - Short Form and Intention to Quit Scale were administered. The results confirmed the validity and reliability of measures (except for the social contract). Age, tenure and gender had statistically significant effects on the fulfilment of one dimension of the psychological contract, namely work conditions. Younger people with less tenure experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions). Tenure also impacted psychological contract violation. Type of contract impacted fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions) experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions) and less violation of the psychological contract. Tenure and type of contract were also related to experiences of the employment contract.

Key terms: Employment contract, social contract, psychological contract, well-being, job satisfaction and intention to quit.

The landscape of higher education in South Africa is characterised by dramatic changes. Changes in workplace practices have been driven by changes to statute law and lead to a fundamental shift in the employment-, psychological- and social contracts (McCarthy, 2004). Transformational changes do not only lead to changes in the work environment, but also have an influence on the employment relationship (Linde & Schalk, 2006). A litigious culture has emerged at the workplace due to the rapid growth of employment legislation and management needs to develop new strategies and policies regarding the employment-, psychological- and social contracts for the future in order to stay relevant as well as ensure compliance with employment legislation (Grahl & Teage, 2009). The past three decades showed a large number of writing regarding certain aspects of the employment-, psychological- and social contracts, but limited research has been done specifically on the employment- and psychological contracts and no research on the social contract within higher education institutions.

Understanding the employment relationship requires a multilevel approach where the individual dimension reflects the individual agreements between the employee and employer which take the form of an employment contract, psychological contract and social contract (Slabbert & Swanepoel, 2001). This employment agreement between the employee and the employer is not cast in stone, because amendment of it can take place over time through negotiations known as idiosyncratic deals, and employers need to manage these idiosyncratic deals properly otherwise their proliferations can undermine trust and cooperation of employees at the workplace (Rousseau, 2001). The employment relationship may be customized through the construct idiosyncratic deals and a shift in the original employment agreement then becomes evident (Rousseau, 2005). Idiosyncratic deals (i-deals) are crafted arrangements that meet the specific needs of individual employees and the very nature of each agreement differs from that of agreements made with another employee by the employer (Ng & Feldman, 2008).

Employees are increasingly attempting to meet their individual needs by customizing their original employment agreement with personalized i-deals (Thornthwaite, 2004). Both parties in this relationship can freely amend and expand the contract without notification to the other party. It is, however, of critical importance that employers need to manage these idiosyncratic deals properly otherwise their proliferations can undermine trust and cooperation at work. Within the workplace, different deals between the employer and employee exist in the form

of employment contracts, social contract and psychological contract perspective (Rousseau, 1995). I-deals can take the form of flexible working arrangements, i.e. where the employee is allowed to balance his work and family life (Lai, Rousseau, & Chang, 2009) and developmental i-deals whereby the employee is motivated by promising him a special promotion (Hornung, Rousseau, & Glaser, 2009). I-deals when implemented in ways that reinforce workplace justice and fairness will be accepted by other co-workers (Rousseau, 2005).

Employers shape the social contract within the workplace, and these social norms must be balanced with the sometimes contradictory exigencies and expectations of employees (Taplin & Winterton, 2007). Remarkable growth in human rights is part of the industrialised world and social system which leads to changes in the social contract (Cragg, 2000). Limited research in the past decade was done on the employment contract and psychological contract, and no research was traced on social contract within higher education institutions.

The past decade was characterised by a renewed interest in having a positive focus regarding employee well-being, specifically at educational institutions (Steele & Fullagar, 2009). It is necessary to assess how employees at higher education institutions experience the contractual relations and to assess the effects thereof on job satisfaction, employee well-being and intention to stay (Coetzee & Rothmann, 2005).

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationships among the fulfilment of the employment-, social-, and psychological contracts, the violation of the contract, job satisfaction, well-being, and intention to quit. This study aims to develop a better understanding of the factors that affect the employment relationship at a higher education institution, including the type of employment contract (temporary or permanent), gender, age, tenure, qualifications, and the psychological contract (obligations), job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit. Informed employees can adapt to human resource practices and fulfil their employment contracts (Wocke & Sutherland, 2008; Zhao, Wayne, Glibkowski, & Bravo, 2007). The study contributes to developing knowledge in the field of psychological contract theory by evaluating the differences in the psychological contracts, types of employment contracts, genders, ages, tenures, and qualifications of employees. Idiosyncratic arrangements can help employees balance their work-life on the one hand and the employer

in gaining a motivated and developed workforce on the other (Hornung, Rousseau, & Glaser, 2008).

Contractual Relationships between Employees and Employers

In South Africa, different forms of employment agreements are distinguished, namely the contract of employment (permanent employment contract and the temporary employment contract). The employment contract is a legally enforceable agreement between two parties, whereby the one party controls the services provided by the other party (Landis & Grossett, 2007). The permanent contract refers to the "normal" or "standard" work arrangement that is, for most employees, the standard practice of employment (Kalleberg, 2000). The temporary employment contract, also known as contingent work, is defined by Polvica and Nardone, (1989, p. 11) as "any job in which an individual does not have an explicit or implicit contract for long-term employment or one in which the minimum hours worked can vary in a non-systematic manner".

A wide variety of definitions exist regarding the social contract. Rousseau (1995) defines the social contract as dealing with benefits employees take for granted and benefits they assume the employer should give them. According to Morrison and Robinson (1997), the social contract is seen by employees as assumptions, norms and beliefs about appropriate behaviour with respect to a social unit.

Edwards and Karau (2007) define the social contract as that which employees believe is fair for all parties concerned at the given time, set against the norms and values of the particular community they reside in. In the employment relationship it specifically refers to what employees believe the employer should honour in order to maintain a fair relationship with them. Situations that come to mind here, and which employees have sought after over the past few decades, are job security, loyalty, good faith, and fairness towards them as well as being respected as human beings.

Mills (1996) believes that the existing social contract must have a balance of equity; it must be fair to both the employee and the company. The social contract determines the behaviour between employers and employees. Morrison and Robinson (1997) remind us that it is the employer that mostly influences the social contract that exists between him/her and the

employee in a particular workplace and more specifically the region the employee finds himself in. Behaviour that is appropriate in one organisation and is seen to be part of the social contract may be inappropriate in another (Clark & Waddle, 1985).

In South Africa, a social contract between the employer and the employee only focuses on the implementation of policies, and the only time that social contracts had been successful thus far was when the policy was implemented on a strictly short-term basis (Preece, 1992). The social contract must be of such a nature that it is more sellable to the relevant parties and role-players within the employment relationships (Preece, 1992). Social contracts change; broad shifts of moral consensus have occurred but employees still believe in a fair relationship set against the norms and values of the particular community (Donaldson & Dunfee, 2002).

Rousseau (1990) emphasises that the employment contract (written or oral) refers to promises made between employer and employee in exchange for compensation, which are enforced by law. Gilbert (1996) points out that the new employment contract is informal and mainly unwritten and the major users are the people-driven world-class organisations. Rousseau (1989, p. 123) defined the psychological contract as "an individual is belief regarding the terms and conditions of a reciprocal exchange agreement between the focal person and the other party". Psychological contracts include beliefs that employees hold regarding the terms and conditions of the exchange agreement between themselves and their institutions (Rousseau, 1990).

The psychological contract is a type of promissory contract that reduces individuals' uncertainty, and employees have greater sense of security and it also directs employees' behaviour (McFarlane Shore & Tetrick, 1994). The key issue of the psychological contract includes a belief that a promise has been made and a consideration offered in exchange for it, which binds the employee and employer to reciprocal obligations.

The state of the psychological contract refers to whether promises and obligations were fulfilled by the employer and whether they were fair. This can apply to the trust between parties (Guest & Conway, 2002). The state of the psychological contract is a relevant antecedent of variables such as job satisfaction and intention to quit (Guest, 1998). Schein (1980) states that the psychological contract will be amended over time to suit the

expectations of the employee and the employer as their needs and the external environment change.

Employees regard the promises made to them as being part of the psychological contract and violation of these promises will result in employees demonstrating negative attitudes such as cynicism and decreased job satisfaction resulting in strong and negative consequences for the employer (Johnson & O'Leary-Kelly, 2003). Research by Rousseau (1989) demonstrated that when the psychological contract is violated, there are dramatic individual consequences. The employee can for instance experience behaviour such as anger, frustration, betrayal, resentment, decreased motivation, lack of job satisfaction, and even an intention to quit as well as organisational consequences such as employee-initiated litigation and unionization efforts.

The breaking of promises by employers can be experienced by employees as a "blocking of their goals", and employees will display behaviour to show employers that they are unhappy (Diener, 1994). This reaction and behaviour displayed by employees have severe "consequences for organisational effectiveness" (Greenhalgh & Rosenblatt, 1984). Nelson and Tonks (2007:22) found that temporary employees' attitudes can reach a point where they display a negative disposition towards managers when violation of the psychological contract takes place. Isaksson et al. (2003) in their study found that violation of the psychological contract is associated with lower levels of employee well-being.

A positive emotional state of employees can be achieved by promoting the self-efficiency level of belief in themselves in order to accomplish set tasks and goals that give meaning, direction, well-being, and job satisfaction (Bandura, 2001). Fulfilment of obligations by the employer leads to employee behaviour that is beneficial to the organisation such as greater job satisfaction and trust in management (Turnley & Feldman, 2000).

Contractual Relationships and Subjective Well-being and Turnover Intention

Two forms of subjective well-being are relevant for this study, namely flourishing/languishing and job satisfaction.

DeLoach and Monroe (2004) defined job satisfaction to be the amount of pleasure employees experience from their work. Job satisfaction and more specifically job dissatisfaction is mainly the reason why employees do not intend to quit and to start seeking better employment conditions (Afolabi, 2005). Fulfilment of its obligations towards the psychological contract by the employer demonstrates employee behaviour that proves to be beneficial to the organisation, and employees develop trust in the employer, as well as experience greater job satisfaction (Robinson, 1996; Turnley & Feldsman, 2000), and intention to stay (Sutton & Griffin, 2004). Employees that are experiencing decreased job satisfaction are more likely to quit the organisation (Baskin, 2007).

Turnover intention refers to an employee's own subjective estimation that he/she will most probably at some point in the near future leave the organisation (Mobley, 1982; Mowday, Porter, & Steers, 1982). It is defined as a conscious and deliberate wilfulness to leave the organisation (Tett & Meyer 1993). According to Sjöberg and Sverke (2000), intention to quit indicates an employee's desire to quit his or her job. Employees' actual behaviour is determined by their intentions just prior to the decision of leaving the organisation, and if the employer can gain access to these people it will give the employer insight into what aspects had a negative valence on the positive relationship that existed between them (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980; Igbaria & Greenhaus, 1992). High intention of actual quitting stems from the dissatisfied employee perceiving no desirable jobs at his current organisation and not disliking only his job, but also the organisation (Vandenberg & Scarpello, 1990).

Happiness is the degree to which employees estimate the overall quality of their lives as favourable. Scholars have introduced the term *subjective well-being* in order to conceptualize the study of happiness. Subjective well-being is defined as "people's evaluations of their lives – evaluations that are both affective and cognitive" (Diener, 2000, p. 34). The cognitive dimension constitutes global satisfaction judgements of the employee's life (Diener, 1984; Diener, Suh, Lucas, & Smith, 1999). The affective dimension consists of a hedonic balance of the positive and negative emotions experienced by the employee (Diener et al., 1999). Well-being is the ability of an individual to have a positive relationship with others and the ability to work productively and to develop their potential optimally (Wadsworth, Chaplin, Allen, & Smith, 2010).

Keyes and Annas (2009) define subjective well-being as the appraisals individuals make regarding the quality of their lives, which include feeling good and functioning well. Keyes (2005) argued that mental health is regarded as a syndrome of symptoms of an individual's subjective well-being and that measures of mental health and mental illness form two distinct continua. The mental health continuum consists of complete mental health (flourishing) and incomplete mental health (languishing). Individuals' positions on the mental health continuum result from their scores on three types of well-being, namely emotional, psychological, and social well-being (Keyes, 2000). Keyes (2007) described flourishing as a pattern of positive feelings and positive functioning in life. On the opposite continuum is *languishing*, which can be defined as the absence of mental health.

The employment relationship between the employer and employee and the state of the employees' well-being in this relationship offer the employer an ideal opportunity of managerial intervention and management thereof, and employees can in this exchange relationship "excel" and achieve their goals, expectations and objectives, as it represents "a worthy objective for both organizational research and practice" (Turner, Barling, & Zacharatos, 2002, p. 725).

Changes at organisational level can cause many workers to feel insecure, and research suggests that perceptions of insecurity correlate negatively with employee well-being (Sparks, Faragher, & Cooper, 2001), a decrease in job satisfaction and a reduction in trust towards the employer, and an intention to quit (De Cuyper et al., 2008).

Contractual Relations, Subjective Well-being and Turnover Intention: Differences between Demographic Groups

Contractual relations, subjective well-being and turnover intention have been studied in relation to differences between demographic groups. According to Heymans (2002), gender, age, length of service, qualifications and job grade are the factors that affect job satisfaction. Straw and Ross (1985) assert that it is the characteristics of the individual that determine job satisfaction.

Studies (Shore & Barksdale, 1998; Tsui, Pearce, Porter, & Triploi, 1997) showed that psychological contract fulfilment is positively related to trust and employees' perceptions of

fairness, and negatively related to intention to quit. According to Turnley and Feldman (1995), psychological contract fulfilment is negatively associated with intention to quit. When employees do not trust the employer and hold the opinion that the future relationship with the organisation is not promising, they perceive a stronger intention to quit (Maharaj, Ortlepp, & Stacey, 2008).

Van Dyne and Ang's (1998) study showed that temporary employees, in view of the social exchange perspective, adopt a more transactional view regarding their employment relationship. Temporary employees expect less from their employer regarding their psychological contract than do permanent employees. Guest (2004) and Rousseau (1995) found that due to the type of contract (temporary or permanent), individual employees' formation of the psychological contract is different. Guest (2004) asserts that temporary employees mostly experience a less fulfilled psychological contract, probably due to the fact that they have fewer opportunities for promotion. Conway and Briner (2002) reported that temporary employees perceive their psychological contract to be more favourable because of the fact that the employer expects less from them.

Isaksson (2005) reported slightly higher levels of job satisfaction for temporary employees compared to permanent employees. De Cuyper and De Witte (2006) found that when the autonomy of permanent employees is reduced, they perceive a violation of their psychological contract and this leads to reduced levels of job satisfaction experienced by these employees, while temporary employees' levels were not influenced.

Stable employment and low turnover are characteristics of firms with a strong culture (Cooke & Rousseau, 1988). Rousseau (1990), points out that such firms make substantial investment into employees, especially regarding long-term employment, but they do expect loyalty in exchange from the employees and even commitment in as far as the organisation's culture and values are concerned. Guest and Conway (2002) reported that temporary employees reported a better state of psychological contract than permanent employees. McDonald and Makin (2000) found no significant difference regarding the state of the psychological contract between that of temporary and permanent employees.

De Beer (2010) found that permanent employees were more inclined to quit than temporary employees. However, De Cuyper and De Witte (2006) showed that contract type was

unrelated to subjective well-being and turnover intention. Maharaj et al. (2008) found that in the case of temporary employees the employees' obligations are short term and narrowly focused on the economic exchange. These employees displayed a higher intention to quit when they felt that the future employment relationship was not promising. Guest and Conway (2002) found the state of the psychological contract of temporary employees to be better than that of permanent employees.

De Cuyper and De Witte (2005) reported that employees with a longer tenure have a lower psychological level of state contract than younger employees and this depends largely on the fact that the trust or perceptions of fairness employees have over time erode as the employer does not honour his/her obligations. De Beer (2010) found that employees with less than a year's tenure have a higher state of psychological contract than employees who have been working for longer periods of time.

Employees indicate perceived violation when employers do not fulfil the obligations they agreed to (Morrison & Robinson, 1997). Turnley and Feldman (1999b) demonstrated that younger employees respond less strongly to violation of the psychological contract. Rousseau (2001) and Bal, De Lange, Jansen, and Van der Velde (2008) found that older employees react stronger than their younger counterparts to violation of the psychological contract, because they have built up a more stable employment relationship with the employer. The expectations and obligations of younger employees have of the employer differ from those of older employees (Bal, 2009; Schein, 1980).

Meitzen (1986) and Smithson and Lewis (1999) reported that women experience a higher intention to quit. De Beer (2010) found that females have a significantly higher intention to quit than their male counterparts. De Beer (2010) found that males experience a significantly higher state of psychological contract than females. Steyn (2009) reported that females experience higher levels of state of the psychological contract than males. Heymans (2002) is convinced that gender, age, length of service, qualifications and job grade are the factors (biographical determinants) that affect job satisfaction.

Carrim, Basson, and Coetzee (2006) propose that job satisfaction is the result of a combination of environmental factors (employability, job insecurity) and individual traits. Isaksson, Johansson, Lindroth, and Magnas (2006) found that women are more likely to be

employed on temporary bases. Statistically significant differences were found between permanent and temporary employees and males and females' psychological contract (Freese & Schalk, 1996; Millward & Hopkins, 1998).

Different studies showed that women experience a higher intention to quit than male employees (De Beer, 2010; Meitzen 1986, Smithson & Lewis, 1999). Leontaridi and Ward (2002) found that older employees are significantly less likely to quit than those younger than 25 years of age. Campbell, Carruth, Dickerson, and Green (2007) found that age is negatively associated with intention to quit, probably because older employees have difficulty in finding new jobs.

Fox (1974) found that different levels of qualifications influence the state of the psychological contract and employees with higher qualifications have more perceived feelings of power. Smithson and Lewis (1999) found that younger, less skilled employees see the employment relationship as flexible and lack the trust their older counterparts have in the employer. Meyer and Allen (1984), in their study, found that employees' expectations increase with longer years of tenure regarding what they believe their employers' obligations towards them should be, because they have put more into the organisation and should receive more than their younger counterparts.

Tekleab, Taylor, and Lepak (2002) reported that with longer years of tenure employees generally expect more from the employer than what is generally expected of the employer at the beginning of tenure. Battu, Mchaster, and White (2002) reported that with longer tenure the match between employee obligations and employer obligations is most likely to be similar. Battu et al. (2002) found that longer tenure influences the employment contract to a point that the initial characteristics of the employment contract might change. Lee and Faller (2005) found that the relational aspects of the psychological contract are subject to change with longer tenure and this continues to change as time goes on. Isaksson et al. (2006) found that older employees are less likely to agree with employers on what they believe the obligations between them should be due to the extended period of employment and furthermore, that their expectations are higher than those of younger employees because of the years of loyal service.

De Beer (2010) showed that employees with higher qualifications expect more of their employer regarding obligations than do employees with grade 12 and less. Isaksson et al. (2006), in their study, found that temporary employees' level of qualifications seems to be slightly higher than that of permanent employees. A study by Probst (2005) showed that the level of qualification was positively related to a greater intention to leave. Level of qualification is associated with better labour market alternatives. Nelson and Tonks (2007) found that when the needs of temporary employees regarding their relational contract with the employer are not met, i.e. obligations are violated, they will experience a low level of job satisfaction.

Coyle-Shapiro and Kessler (2002) found that temporary and permanent employees hold different expectations regarding their employment relationship. Van Dyne and Ang's (1998) study showed that temporary employees expect less from their employer than permanent employees expect from their psychological contract. Guest (2004) and Rousseau (1995) found that hence the type of contract (temporary or permanent), individual employees' formation of the psychological contract is different. Conway and Briner (2002) found that temporary employees perceive their psychological contract to be more favourable because the employer expects less from them.

Nelson and Tonks (2007) found that when the needs of temporary employees regarding their contract with the employer are not met, i.e. obligations are violated, they will experience a low level of job satisfaction. Violation of the psychological contract is likely to have many negative consequences such as reduced job satisfaction and turnover intention (Turnley & Feldman, 2000).

De Cuyper and De Witte (2006) found that when the autonomy of permanent employees is reduced, they perceive a violation of their psychological contract and this leads to reduced levels of job satisfaction experienced by these employees; while temporary employees' levels were not influenced. Lack of job satisfaction was found to be a determining factor that most definitely leads to an employee's final decision to quit the organisation (Moore, 2002). Mauno, Kinnunen, Mäkikangas, and Nätti (2005) found no association between temporary and permanent employees and job satisfaction, because temporary employees trust the employer to provide a permanent job for them in the future, and such positive future

expectations may enhance a positive perception of the work and the employer (Connelly & Gallanger, 2004).

In a study undertaken by Johnson and O'Leary-Kelly (2003), employees regarded the promises made to them to be part of the psychological contract, and violation of these promises resulted in a strong and negative attitude towards the job and organisation. Bal et al. (2008) reported that older employees respond differently from younger employees when the organisation violates its obligations regarding the psychological contract. Older employees respond by showing a strong decrease in job satisfaction and younger employees respond by lowering their levels of trust and becoming less engaged in the organisation.

Change has a dramatic impact on the well-being of academic and administrative staff at higher education institutions. It does not only have an effect on employees' well-being, but the once secure employment relationship becomes rather insecure and uncertain when obligations are not honoured and this has a direct influence on the attitudes as well as behaviour displayed by employees towards the organisation (Sverke, Hellgren, & Näswall, 2002).

Different views exist regarding temporary employment and well-being. Temporary employment, because of the insecure nature thereof, is often associated with the phenomenon that it produces unfavourable attitudes and impaired well-being (Näswall & De Witte, 2003). Guest and Clinton (2006) found that temporary employees experience higher levels of well-being than do permanent employees.

Maharaj et al. (2008) found that because of a positive relationship between the psychological contract and intention to quit, employees who had a strong belief that the future relationship with their organisation is not promising had a strong intention to quit. Employees who feel that they want to quit and support the organisation because they feel obligated to do so also had a low intention to quit. Shore and Barksdale (1998) and Tsui et al. (1997) found that the psychological contract is positively related to trust and employees' perception of fairness and negatively related to intention to quit.

Hypotheses

Contractual relations, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention differ between different age groups (hypothesis 1), groups with different service years (hypothesis 2), different genders (hypothesis 3), qualification groups (hypothesis 4), and types of contracts (hypothesis 5).

Method

Research Design

A cross-sectional survey design was used to reach the research objectives. The research approach was quantitative, descriptive and exploratory (Field, 2009). The survey technique gathers data from the target population primarily through the use of questionnaires, and the information obtained can be used to describe, predict and interpret aspects associated with correlative research.

Participants

The sample included individuals working at a higher education institution in the Vaal Triangle and 483 academic and administrative employees were targeted. The sample included employees from all levels, ranging from unskilled blue collar employees to management. The lowest level employees had a grade 10 education level and consequently a sufficient literacy level enabling them to accurately complete the questionnaire. A response rate of 62% (N = 300) was obtained. The population included all genders, races, ages, qualifications and tenures.

A total of 65.6% of the participants have permanent contracts. Regarding the gender of the participants, 58.2% were female and 31.8% were male. The majority of the participants (62%) have been employed by the Institution for different periods of less than 10 years. Employees with tertiary education comprised 70.33% of the studied population while the remaining 30.33% was divided equally between employees who had grade 12 and 10 certificates.

Table 1

Characteristics of the Participants (N=300)

Item	Category	Frequency	Percentage
Classification of job	Unskilled blue collar worker	41	11.6
	Skilled blue collar worker	13	3.7
	Lower level white collar worker	96	27.3
	Intermediate white collar worker	30	8.5
	Upper white collar worker	114	32.4
	Management or director	6	1.7
Type of Contract	Temporary employee	69	19.6
	Permanent employee	231	65.6
Gender	Female	205	58.2
	Male	95	27.0
Age	20 - 25 years	29	9.7
	26 - 31 years	48	16.0
	32 - 37 years	74	24.7
	38 - 43 years	48	16.0
	44 - 49 years	41	13.7
	50 – 55 years	35	11.7
	56 - and older	25	8.3
Tenure	0 - 1 years	46	15.3
	2 - 3 years	62	20.7
	4 - 5 years	38	12.7
	6 - 10 years	56	18.7
	11 - 15 years	47	15.7
	16 – 20 years	30	10.0
	21 - and longer	21	7.0
Qualifications	Grade 10	43	12.2
	Grade 11 or 12	46	13.1
	Diploma	58	16.5
	Bachelor's degree	50	14.2
	Postgraduate degree	103	29.3

Measuring Instruments

A biographical questionnaire was used to obtain characteristics of the participants concerning their age, race, gender, type of contract, educational level, marital status, dependants, position, union membership, years working for the higher education institution.

The *Psychological Contract and Social Contract Measurement* (ECS; Edwards & Karau, 2007) was used to measure experiences of the psychological- and social contracts. The ECS consists of 12-items. The questionnaire consists of the following items: the first six items focus on measuring the psychological contract and the latter half the social contract. Examples of questions for the social contract are "The higher education institution should expect that employees will switch jobs frequently" and "Employees should be trusted to fulfil their work"; and for the psychological contract "The institution must realise that I may switch jobs frequently" and "My institution can trust me to fulfil my work responsibilities – Reverse question". The questions are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). In different studies, Edwards and Karau (2007) found Cronbach alpha coefficients between 0.81 to 0.84 for the psychological contract and 0.72 to 0.87 for the social contract.

The *Employment Contract Fulfilment Scale* (ECFS; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure the fulfilment of the employment contract. The ECFS consists of four items which are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). An example question is "My current employment contract is the one that I prefer".

The *Employer Obligations Questionnaire* (EOQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure the fulfilment of promises and commitments of employers to employees. The EOQ consists of 15 items that are arranged along a frequency-rating scale with 0 (*No*) and 5 (*Yes, and promise fully kept*). Examples of questions include "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to providing you with interesting work?", to "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to helping you deal with problems you encounter outside work?"

The *Violation of Contract Questionnaire* (VCQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure violation of contracts. Examples of questions are: "Looking overall at how far this institution has or has not kept its promises and commitments, to what extent do you feel: happy, angry, pleased, violated, disappointed, and grateful". The six items are rated on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Keyser (2010) obtained a Cronbach alpha coefficient of 0.89 for the VCQ.

The *Job Satisfaction Scale* (JSS; Price, 1997) was used to measure job satisfaction. The JSS consists of four items (e.g. "I am not happy with my job" and "My organisation shows very

little concern for me"). The questions are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Isaksson et al. (2002) found the reliability of job satisfaction to be $\alpha = 0.82$ in previous studies.

The *Mental Health Continuum Short Form* (MHC-SF; Keyes, 2009) was used to measure emotional, social and psychological well-being. The MCH-SF consists of 14 items which are rated using a six-point scale varying from 1 (*never*) to 6 (*every day*). Three items measure emotional well-being, six items measure psychological well-being and five items measure social well-being. Acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha > 0.80$) and construct validity of the MHC-SF have been found by Keyes (2009) and Diedericks (2012).

The *Intention to Quit Questionnaire* (ITQ, Price, 1997) is a modified commitment measure using 4-items ("These days, I often feel like quitting", "Despite the obligations I have made to this institution, I want to quit my job as soon as possible"). The questions are rated on a Likert scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The Cronbach alphas in previous studies range from 0.79 to 0.82 (Isaksson, 2002).

Research Procedure

The research project has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the North-West University. The participants were briefed about the research project and afforded the opportunity to ask questions before considering participation. A clear outline of the roles and responsibilities of all the parties involved was given. Participation in the project was voluntary and anonymous and participants completed a consent form. The survey questionnaire was delivered to the target group by hand in April 2011. The questionnaire had a covering letter explaining the purpose of the research. The trust of the participants was obtained by ensuring them that all information they give will be dealt with confidentially and not be given to anyone. Participants were assured that their participation is voluntary and that they can participate anonymously. The participants had until 20 May 2011 to complete the questionnaires. The data was captured on an Excel spread sheet.

Statistical Analysis

The analysis was carried out with the SPSS 19 program (SPSS, 2011). Exploratory factor analyses were used to investigate the factor structure of the measuring instruments. First, a principal component analysis was used to assess the number of components in the data (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2001). The eigenvalues (> 1) and scree plot were used to determine the number of factors (Field, 2009). If more than one component were extracted, principal factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was used,

Cronbach's alpha coefficients were used to determine the reliability of the measuring instruments. Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations) were computed to describe the data. Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were used to specify the relationships between the variables. The level of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Effect sizes were used to decide on the practical significance of the findings (Steyn, 1999). A cut-off point of 0.30 (medium effect) was set for the practical significance of correlation coefficients (Cohen, 1988).

Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to determine the significance of the differences between the employment-, psychological- and social contracts, job satisfaction, well-being and turnover intention of the demographic variables (Albright, Winston, & Zappe, 2009; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). When an effect of MANOVA was significant, a one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to investigate which dependent variables were affected. ANOVA was used to assess the significance of differences between groups if one dependent variable was analysed.

Results

Construct Validity of the Measuring Instruments

Exploratory factor analysis was used to investigate the construct validity of the various measuring instruments. First, a principal component analysis was conducted for each measuring instrument to determine the number of components that could be extracted. The eigenvalues and scree plot were inspected to determine the number of components. Second, if

applicable, a principle factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was used to extract factors (if inter-correlations of factors were higher than 0.25).

A principle component analysis was conducted on the four items measuring aspects of the fulfilment of the employment contract. The results showed that one component with an eigenvalue = 2.16 could be extracted. This component explained 54.09% of the total variance. Table 2 shows the component loadings and communalities for the items of the Employment Contract Fulfilment Scale.

Table 2

Component Loadings and Communalities for the Employment Contract

Item	Description	Component 1	h^2
1	My current employment contract is the one that I prefer.	0.90	0.81
2	The employment contract I have today is the one I want to have in the future.	0.90	0.81
3	My present employment contract suits me for the time being.	0.70	0.49
4	I would prefer a different kind of employment contract to the one I have now	-0.24	0.06
	Eigenvalue	2.16	
	Percentage of variance	54.09	

The results in Table 2 showed that one item did not load significantly on the component (loading = -0.24, h^2 = 0.06). This component is labelled Employment Contract and describes the extent to which employees feel that the current employment contract suits them and is preferred.

A principle component analysis was conducted on the 12 items measuring aspects of the social- and psychological contracts. The results showed that four components with eigenvalues larger than one could be extracted (see Table 3). These components explained 62.30% of the total variance. A principle Factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was carried out on the 12 items. Table 3 shows the factor loadings and communalities for the social- and psychological contract items.

Table 3

Factor Loadings and Communalities for the Social Contract and Psychological Contract

Item	Description	F1	F2	F3	F4	h^2
1	The ideal company should expect that employees will switch jobs frequently	0.82	0.01	0.00	-0.14	0.21
2	The ideal company should provide long-term job security for its members (R)	0.67	-0.43	0.17	-0.13	0.37
3	The ideal company could be trusted to take care of its employees (R)	0.52	-0.43	-0.03	0.28	0.41
4	People should leave their current job if they get a better job offer	0.45	-0.07	0.09	0.15	0.43
5	Workers should be responsible for their own long-term employment	0.23	-0.77	0.15	-0.21	0.52
6	Workers should be trusted to fulfil their work responsibilities (R)	0.02	-0.60	0.02	0.20	0.42
7	My company realises that I may switch jobs frequently	-0.12	-0.22	0.70	-0.05	0.50
8	My company provides me with long-term security (R)	0.08	0.34	0.59	0.03	0.40
9	I trust my company to take care of me (R)	0.24	0.24	0.46	0.18	0.74
10	I will leave my job if I get a better offer	0.07	-0.16	0.39	0.06	0.48
11	I am responsible for my own long-term employment	0.08	-0.29	-0.08	0.62	0.63
12	My company can trust me to fulfil my work responsibilities (R)	-0.07	0.00	0.15	0.59	0.26
	Eigenvalues	2.97	1.66	1.50	1.34	
	Percentage variance	24.73	13.87	12.51	11.20	

The results in Table 3 showed four factors had eigenvalues larger than one. These factors explained 62.31% of the total variance. However, the items did not load on the expected factors. Looking at the results of the exploratory factor analysis in Table 3, it seems that the ECS as developed by Edwards and Karau (2007) is not a construct valid measure of the social contract in the current sample. Although different factor solutions were tried, none of these solutions were in line with the conceptualisation of the social contract. Considering the poor construct validity of the ECS, it was decided to exclude the measure from further analyses in this study.

A principle component analysis was conducted on the 12 items measuring fulfilment of the psychological contract. The results showed that two factors with eigenvalues larger than one could be extracted (see Table 4). These components explained 59.09% of the total variance. A principle factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was carried out on the 12 items. Table 4 shows the factor loadings and communalities for the items.

Table 4

Factor Loadings and Communalities for the Fulfilment of the Psychological Contract

Item	Description	F1	F2	h^2
PC10	Provide possibilities to work together in a pleasant way	0.82	0.04	0.50
PC14	Provide an environment free from violence and harassment	0.78	-0.11	0.69
PC7	Provide a good working atmosphere	0.73	0.08	0.52
PC12	Provide you with a safe working environment	0.73	-0.03	0.65
PC8	Ensure fair treatment by managers and supervisors	0.67	0.05	0.64
PC9	Be flexible in matching demands of non-work roles with work	0.66	0.13	0.59
PC15	Help you deal with problems you encounter outside work	0.59	-0.13	0.65
PC13	Improve your future employment prospects?	0.44	0.04	0.55
PC2	Provide you with a reasonably secure job	-0.17	0.87	0.60
PC4	Provide you with a job that is challenging	0.03	0.75	0.72
PC6	Provide you with a career	-0.02	0.72	0.55
PC5	Allow you to participate in decision-making	0.08	0.71	0.58
PC3	Provide you with good pay for the work you do	0.07	0.62	0.59
PC11	Provide you opportunities to advance and grow	0.32	0.48	0.61
PC1	Provide you with interesting work	0.33	0.43	0.42
	Eigenvalue	7.05	1.81	
	Percentage variance	47.02	12.07	

The results in Table 4 showed that two factors were extracted. Factor one (labelled Psychological Contract Fulfilment: Work Conditions) refers to aspects that make the job environment and atmosphere more pleasant for employees. Factor two (labelled Psychological Contract Fulfilment: Job) contains aspects that were related to the job itself.

A principle component analysis was conducted on the 6 items measuring aspects of the violation of the psychological contract. The results showed that four components with eigenvalues larger than one could be extracted (see Table 5). These components explained 49.49% of the total variance. A principle factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was carried out on the 6 items. Table 5 shows the factor loadings and communalities for the violation of the psychological contract items.

Table 5

Factor Loadings, Communalities (h^2) and Percentage Variance for the Principle Component

Analysis on Violation of the Psychological Contract Items

Item	Description	F_1	h^2
1	Нарру	0.81	0.73
2	Angry	-0.63	0.68
3	Pleased	0.75	0.80
4	Violated	-0.62	0.66
5	Disappointed	-0.70	0.66
6	Grateful	0.71	0.77
	Eigenvalue	2.97	
	Percentage of variance	49.49	

The results in Table 5 showed that only one factor was extracted. This factor explains how employees currently feel towards the employer due to the violation of the psychological contract.

A principle component analysis was conducted on the 4 items on the job satisfaction scale. The results showed that four components with eigenvalues larger than one could be extracted (see Table 6). These components explained 54% of the total variance. A principle Factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was carried out on the 4 items. Table 6 shows the factor loadings and communalities for job satisfaction items.

Table 6

Factor Loadings, Communalities (h²) and Percentage Variance for the Principle Component

Analysis on JS (Job Satisfaction) Items

Item	Description	F_1	h^2
1	I am <u>not</u> happy with my job	0.77	0.52
2	I am often bored with my job	0.74	0.51
3	Most days I am enthusiastic about my job	-0.72	0.54
4	I find enjoyment in my job	-0.71	0.59
	Eigenvalue	2.16	
	Percentage of variance	53.99	

The results in Table 6 showed that only one factor was extracted. This factor explains how satisfied employees currently feel with their jobs.

A principle component analysis was conducted on the 4 items measuring aspects of turnover intention. The results showed that four components with eigenvalues larger than one could be extracted (see Table 7). These components explained 59.25% of the total variance. A principle factor analysis with a direct oblimin rotation was carried out on the 4 items. Table 7 shows the factor loadings and communalities for the turnover intention items.

Table 7

Factor Loadings, Communalities (h^2) and Percentage Variance for the Principle Component Analysis on IQ (Intention to Quit) Items

Item	Description	F_1	h^2
1	These days, I often feel like quitting	0.76	0.58
2	Despite the obligations I have made to this organisation, I want to quit my job as soon as possible	0.84	0.70
3	At this moment, I would like to stay with this organisation as long as possible	-0.69	0.47
4	If I could, I would quit today	0.79	0.62
	Eigenvalue	2.37	
	Percentage of variance	59.25	

The results in Table 7 showed that only one factor was extracted. This factor explains how employees currently feel towards staying on in the organisation.

Descriptive Statistics, Alpha Coefficients and Correlations

Next, descriptive statistics, alpha coefficients and Pearson correlations were computed. The results are shown in Table 8. The minimum and maximum values are included to make it possible to interpret the mean scores. Furthermore, internal consistencies and correlations of the scales are reported to assist in forming reliable dimensions that could be used when comparing demographic groups. Yet furthermore, the correlations between dimensions were computed to assess whether multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) should be used to study differences between demographic groups. MANOVA is recommended when the scales are at least moderately related (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007).

Table 8

Descriptive Statistics, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients and Correlations of the Measuring Instruments

Scale	Mean	SD	Min	Max	α	1	2	3	4	5	6
Employment Contract	3.76	1.08	1.00	5.00	0.79	-	-	-	-	-	-
PC: Job	2.18	1.39	0.00	5.00	0.79	0.17^{**}	-	-	-	-	-
PC: Job Conditions	2.35	1.38	0.00	5.00	0.89	0.04	0.63**	-	-	-	-
PC: Violation	3.39	0.83	1.33	5.00	0.79	0.06	0.47^{**}	0.48^{**}	-	-	-
Job Satisfaction	3.84	0.85	1.00	5.00	0.71	0.05	0.31**	0.30^{**}	0.57^{**}	-	-
Intention to Quit	2.15	0.98	1.00	5.00	0.77	-0.06	-0.16**	-0.22**	-0.48**	-0.61**	-
Flourishing	3.20	0.91	0.71	5.00	0.84	-0.03	0.20^{**}	0.24**	0.35**	0.42^{**}	-0.43**

^{**} *p* < 0.01

The results in Table 8 show that the Cronbach alpha coefficients of all the scales were higher than the recommended value of 0.70 (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994). Therefore the internal consistencies of all the scales were acceptable.

Table 8 shows that the fulfilment of the psychological contract (job expectations) is statistically significantly related to the job conditions (large effect), non-violation of the psychological contract (medium effect), job satisfaction (large effect), low turnover intention and flourishing. Fulfilment of the psychological contract (expectations regarding work conditions) is statistically significantly related to non-violation of the psychological contract (medium effect), job satisfaction (medium effect), low turnover intention and flourishing. Non-violation of the psychological contract is statistically significantly related to job satisfaction (large effect), low intention to quit (medium effect) and flourishing (medium effect). Job satisfaction is statistically significantly related to low intention to quit (large effect) and flourishing (medium effect).

Given the small correlations between the Employment Contract and other scales, it was decided to use ANOVA rather than MANOVA for analysing differences between demographic groups' experiences of the employment contract. MANOVA is then used for analysing differences between demographic groups for the remaining scales.

Differences between Demographic Groups

Next, MANOVA and ANOVA analyses were done to determine the relationships between scores of individual characteristics, the type of contract, psychological contract and social contract, violation of contract, state of contract and job satisfaction and employee well-being.

Table 9

MANOVA of the Differences between Demographic Groups' Experiences of Contractual Relations, Job Satisfaction, Flourishing and Turnover Intention

Variable	Value	F	df	p	η
Age	0.78	2.00	36.0	0.00*	0.04
Tenure	0.73	2.63	36.0	0.00*	0.05
Type of contract	0.89	6.27	6.00	0.00*	0.11
Gender	0.96	2.27	6.0	0.04	0.05
Qualification	0.79	2.96	24	0.00*	0.06

 $[\]eta^2 > 0.25 = \text{large effect}$

Because multiple ANOVAs are included, a Bonferroni type of adjustment was made for inflated Type 1 error. The adjusted α level was computed using the following formula (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2001):

$$\alpha = 1 - (1 - \alpha_1) (1 - \alpha_2) \dots (1 - \alpha_6)$$

Therefore an alpha level of 0.001 was set for each dependent variable (resulting in an overall alpha level of 0.01). In the case of multiple ANOVAs in this study, the statistical significance after the Bonferroni adjustment is shown.

Table 9 reflects the statistically significant effect of age on the combined dependent variable (state of the psychological contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention), $F_{(36,\ 1258)}=2.00,\ p<0.01;\ \eta^2=0.04$. ANOVA showed that age had a statistically significant effect on one of the dependent variables, namely state of the psychological contract: work conditions, $F_{(6,\ 291)}=3.13,\ p<0.01;\ \eta^2=0.06$. Although the effect size was small (6% of the variance explained), the results showed that people in the age group 20-25 experienced more fulfilment of the state of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned (Mean = 2.89, SD=1.49) compared to the 44-49 age group (Mean = 1.85, SD=1.31) and the older than 56 age group (Mean = 1.75. SD=1.37).

^{*} Statistically significant difference: p < 0.05

Hypothesis 1 is therefore accepted for one dimension (work conditions) of the fulfilment of the psychological contract.

Tenure had a statistically significant effect on the combined dependent variable (state of the psychological contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention), $F_{(42, 1340)} = 2.78$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.04$. ANOVA showed that tenure had a statistically significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions, $F_{(6, 291)} = 3.90$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.07$, and psychological contract violation, $F_{(6, 291)} = 5.38$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.10$. The results showed that people with one year or less work experience showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned (Mean = 2.99, SD = 1.27) compared to 2-5 (Mean = 1.84, SD = 1.19) and 15-20 years' experience (Mean = 1.97, SD = 1.50). People with one year or less (Mean = 3.55, SD = 0.71) and 2-3 years' (Mean = 3.74, SD = 0.74) work experience showed statistically significantly higher scores on psychological contract non-violation compared to those with more than 20 years' work experience (Mean = 3.42, SD = 0.76) and 15-20 years' experience (Mean = 2.77, SD = 0.92). Hypothesis 2 is therefore accepted for two dimensions, namely psychological contract fulfillment: work conditions and psychological contract violation.

Gender had a statistically significant effect on the combined dependent variable (state of the psychological contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention), $F_{(6, 291)} = 2.27$, p < 0.05; $\eta^2 = 0.05$. ANOVA showed that gender had a statistically significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions, $F_{(1, 296)} = 8.51$, p < 0.05; $\eta^2 = 0.03$, and non-violation of the psychological contract $F_{(1, 296)} = 7.67$, p < 0.05; $\eta^2 = 0.03$. The results showed that males showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned (Mean = 2.69, SD = 1.21) compared to females (Mean = 2.20, SD = 1.41). Males also showed less violation of the psychological contract (Mean = 3.58, SD = 0.79) compared to females (Mean = 3.29, SD = 0.84). Hypothesis 3 is therefore accepted for two dimensions, namely psychological contract fulfilment: work conditions and psychological contract violation.

Qualification had a statistically significant effect on the combined dependent variable (state of the psychological contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention), $F_{(24, 1005)} = 2.96$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.0.06$. However, after the

Bonferroni adjustment, none of the dependent variables were statistically significant. Hypothesis 4 is therefore rejected.

Type of contract had a statistically significant effect on the combined dependent variable (state of the psychological contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention), $F_{(42, 1340)} = 6.27$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.11$. ANOVA showed that type of contract (permanent or temporary) had a statistically significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions, $F_{(6, 291)} = 21.71$, p < 0.01; $\eta^2 = 0.07$. The results showed that employees with temporary contracts showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned (Mean = 3.02, SD = 1.06) compared to permanent contracts (Mean = 2.16, SD = 1.39). Hypothesis 5 is therefore accepted regarding psychological contract fulfilment: work conditions.

Table 10 shows the differences between demographic groups' experiences of contractual relations, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention

Table 10

ANOVA of the Differences between Demographic Groups' Experiences of the Employment Contract

Variable	F	df	p	η
Age	1.16	1, 6	0.33	-
Tenure	3.97	1, 6	0.00*	0.08
Type of contract	96.56	1, 1	0.00*	0.24
Gender	2.00	1, 1	0.16	-
Qualification	1.21	1, 4	0.31	-

 $[\]eta^2 > 0.25 = large \; effect$

Table 10 indicates that tenure and type of contract have statistically significant effects on experiences of the employment contract. The type of contract (permanent versus temporary) had the largest effect on experiences of the employment contract.

^{*} Statistically significant difference: p < 0.05

Tenure had a statistically significant impact on experiences of the employment contract: employees in the age category 20-25 obtained lower scores than employees in age groups older than 38 years. The type of contract also has a statistically significant effect on the experiences of the employment contract. Temporary employees (Mean = 2.79; SD = 1.15) obtained lower scores on experiences of the employment contract compared to permanent employees (Mean = 4.04; SD = 0.87). These results provide support for hypotheses 2 and 5.

Discussion

The aim of the study was to investigate the differences between demographic groups' experiences of contractual relationships and individual and organisational outcomes of employees at a higher education institution. The results confirmed the validity and reliability of measures (except for the social contract). Age, tenure and gender had statistically significant effects on the fulfilment of one dimension of the psychological contract, namely work conditions. Younger people with less tenure experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions). Tenure also impacted psychological contract violation. Type of contract (permanent versus temporary), impacted fulfilment of the psychological contract (specifically work conditions). Males (compared to females) experienced more fulfilment of the psychological contract (regarding work conditions) and less violation of the psychological contract. Tenure and type of contract were also related to experiences of the employment contract.

The results showed that age had a significant effect on perceptions of state of the psychological contract: work conditions. People in the age group 20-25 experienced more fulfilment of the state of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, compared to the 44-49 age group and the older than 56 age group. The expectations and obligations of younger employees differ from those of older employees (Bal, 2009; Schein, 1980). Turnley and Feldman (1999b) found that younger employees respond less strongly to violation of the psychological contract. Rousseau (2001) and Bal et al. (2007) found that older employees react stronger than their younger counterparts to violation of the psychological contract because they have built up a more stable employment relationship with the employer.

Tenure had a significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions, and psychological contract violation. The results showed that people with one year or less work experience showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, than those with 2-5 and 15-20 years' experience. People with one year or less and 2-3 years' work experience showed statistically significantly higher scores on psychological contract non-violation compared to those with more than 20 years' work experience. De Cuyper and De Witte's (2005) study found that employees with a longer tenure have a lower level of fulfilment of the psychological contract than younger employees, and this was attributed to the fact that the employees' levels of trust and perceptions of fairness have over time eroded as the employer does not honour his obligations. De Beer (2010) found that employees with less than a year tenure have a higher state of psychological contract than employees who have been working for longer periods of time. Meyer and Allen (1984) suggest that longer-tenured employees believe that they should receive more in return from the organisation for what they have put in over the years because they have done more for the organisation than younger employees. This may be because employees who have longer tenure believe that they have built up a certain amount of trust in the relational contract with the employer against those employees who have only been working for the organisation for a few years. Shore and Barksdale (1998) and Tsui et al. (1997) found that the psychological contract is positively related to trust and employees' perception of fairness, and negatively related to intention to quit.

Type of contract had a statistically significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions. The results showed that employees with temporary contracts showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned compared to those with permanent contracts. According to Anderson and Schalk, (1998), the type of contract is based on reciprocity and is something implicit. Rousseau (1995) state that a psychological contract can only exist if both the employee and employer believe that an arrangement between them exists by accepting to honour the obligations thereof.

Guest and Conway (2002) as well as Keyser (2010) found that temporary employees reported a better state of psychological contract than permanent employees. The treatment employees receive from the employer will, to a great extent, reflect their commitment to the organisation. If employees believe that the employer is fulfilling his obligations, they will

feel compelled and obligated to honour their obligations to the organisation and try their utmost best not to cause the organisation any harm (Gouldner, 1960).

Gender had a statistically significant effect on the state of the psychological contract: work conditions and non-violation of the psychological contract. Males showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, compared to females. Males also showed less violation of the psychological contract, compared to females. De Beer (2010) found that males experience a significantly higher state of psychological contract than do females. Steyn (2009) reported that females experience higher levels of state of the psychological contract than do males. Keyser (2010) found that female employees experience higher state of psychological contract levels than do male employees.

Tenure and type of contract have statistically significant effects on experiences of the employment contract. Employees in the age category 20-25 obtained lower scores compared to employees in age groups older than 38 years. The type of contract also has a statistically significant effect on the experiences of the employment contract. Temporary employees obtained lower scores on experiences of the employment contract compared to permanent employees. Coyle-Shapiro and Kessler (2002) found that temporary and permanent employees hold different expectations regarding their employment relationship. Conway and Briner (2002) found that temporary employees perceive their psychological contract to be more favourable because of the fact that there are lower expectations from the employer. Van Dyne and Ang's (1998) study showed that temporary employees, in view of the social exchange perspective, adopt a more transactional view regarding their employment relationship. Temporary employees expect less from their employer than do permanent employees expect from their psychological contract. Guest (2004) found that temporary employees mostly experience a less fulfilled psychological contract, probably due to the fact that they have fewer promotion opportunities.

Limitations

This study had various limitations. Firstly, permanent employment contract employees dominate the 1 sample of temporary employment employees. Secondly, the sample size was relatively small compared to the number of variables used and it was also relatively homogeneous regarding gender and cultural groups. Thirdly, this study was based on

correlation data and this makes it impossible to prove causality of relationships. Fourthly, the research relied on self-report instruments to measure target variables. Lastly, a longitudinal research design is preferred to a cross-sectional design in that it can aid future researchers to establish causal relationships with long-term consequences in the employment relationship in order to develop organisational interventions.

Recommendations

It is recommended that more attention be given to the establishment of a fair psychological contract that will benefit both the employee and the employer at the higher education institution. The employer must pay attention to the changing needs of the individual employees as time goes by and establish a channel of communication whereby the individual employee can renegotiate the existing psychological contract between them. This negotiation must be dealt with in such a manner that it establishes a balanced relational contract between the role-players. Sensitivity demonstrated by the immediate line managers when communicating with employees can help to detect and be an early indication of an employees' need to adjust his or her psychological contract. To achieve this, it is eminent that line managers should receive training and information regarding the psychological contract as an organisational phenomenon. This will establish a platform and show commitment from the employer to ensure that the psychological contracts of individual employees at the higher education institution are maintained on a continuous basis. The on-going analysis of employee perceptions and establishment of a positive psychological contract approach will guarantee, to a great extent, the prevention of mistrust (Silla, Gracia, & Peiro, 2005).

An institution that supports the psychological needs of employees through managers that are attentive to their ideas, questions and initiatives and that promote the training and competence of employees as well as instil a sense of belonging in them, are on a path of creating a healthy positive work environment in which employees can flourish (Deci & Ryan, 2008).

Research on the social contract is lacking in South Africa and it will be interesting to see whether future studies also report similar findings regarding the validity and reliability of the social contract, as is the case in this study. Future research should further the development of building a theoretical framework that gives a true reflection and account of the labour relations situation as it is in the South African situation. To obtain larger samples, future

studies at other higher education institutions can be conducted by making use of an electronic survey questionnaire so that it can be more representative in terms of gender and cultural groups in South Africa. Future studies at higher education institutions can also explore the relationship between psychological contract fulfilment, basic psychological need satisfaction and flourishing and the impact of violation of the psychological contract on individual and organisational outcomes of these employees. Future studies should also focus on the experiences of academic employees specifically regarding their idiosyncratic relationships within the higher education institution; and also the violation of the psychological contract and effects thereof on this relationship; and the influence thereof on individual outcomes, life satisfaction, job satisfaction, job insecurity, work engagement and organisational outcomes and employee well-being.

References

- Afolabi, O. A. (2005). Influence of organizational climate and locus of control on job satisfaction and turnover intentions. *Life Psychology: an International Journal*, 73, 102-113.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Anderson, N., & Schalk, R. (1998). The psychological contract in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 19, 637-647.
- Bal, P. M. (2009). *Age and psychological contract breach in relation to work outcomes*. (Academisch Proefschrift). Amsterdam: Vrije Universiteit.
- Bal, P. M., De Lange, A. H., Jansen, P. G. W., & Van Der Velde, M. E. G. (2008). Psychological contract breach and job attitudes: A meta-analysis of age as a moderator. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 72, 143-158.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review Psychology*, 52, 1-26.
- Baskin, B (2007, November). Vigour, dedication, and absorption: Work engagement among secondary English teachers in Indonesia. Paper presented at the annual AARE Conference, Fremantle, Perth.
- Battu, H., Mchaster, R., & White, M. (2002). Tenure and employment contracts: An empirical investigation, *Journal of Economic Studies*, 29, 131-149.
- Campbell, D., Carruth, A., Dickerson, A., & Green, F. (2007). Job insecurity and wages. *The Economic Journal*, 544-566.
- Carrim, N., Basson, J., & Coetzee, M. (2006). The relation between job satisfaction and locus of control in a South African call centre environment. *South African Journal of Labour Relations*, *30*, 66-81.
- Clark, M., & Waddel, B. (1985). Perceptions of exploitation in communal and exchange relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 2, 403-418.
- Coetzee, S. E., & Rothmann, S. (2005). Work engagement of employees at a higher education institution in South Africa. *Southern African Business Review*, 9, 23-34.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences (Rev. ed). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Connelly, C. E., & Gallagher, D. G. (2004) Emerging trends in contingent work research. *Journal of Management*, 30, 959-983.

- Conway, N., & Briner, R. B. (2002). Full-time versus part-time employees: Understanding the links between work status, the psychological contract, and attitudes. London, United Kingdom: University of London.
- Cook, R. A., & Rousseau, D. M. (1988). Behavioral norms and expectations: A quantitative approval to the assessment of organizational culture. *Groups and Organizational Studies*, *13*, 245-273.
- Coyl-Shapiro, J., & Kessler, I. (2002). Exploring reciprocity through the lens of the psychological contract: Employee and employer perspectives. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 11, 69-86.
- Cragg, W. (2000). Human rights and business ethics: Fashioning a new social contract. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 27, 205-214.
- De Beer, S. (2010). The psychological contract, job insecurity and the intention to quit of security employees in the Vaal Triangle. (Unpublished Master's dissertation). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Self-determination theory: A macro-theory of human motivation, development, and health. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(3), 182–185.
- De Cuyper, N. D., Bernhard-Oetel, C., Berntson, E., Witte, H, D., & Alarco, B. (2008). Employability and Employees' well-being: Mediation by job insecurity. *Applied Psychology*, *57*, 488-509.
- De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2005). Job insecurity: mediator or moderator of the relationship between type of contract and various outcomes. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *31*, 79-86.
- De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2006). The impact of job insecurity and contract type on attitudes, well-being and behavioural reports: A psychological contract perspective. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 79, 395-409.
- De Loach, R., & Monroe, J. (2004). Job satisfaction among hospice employees: What managers need to know. *The Healthcare Manager*, 23, 209-219.
- Diedericks, E. (2012). Flourishing of employees in the information technology industry in South Africa. (Unpublished doctoral thesis.) North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 95, 542-575.
- Diener, E. (1994). Assessing subjective well-being: Progress and opportunities. *Social Indicators Research*, *31*, 103-157.
- Diener, E. (2000). Subjective well-being. American Psychologist, 35, 34-43.

- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R.E., & Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, *125*, 276-302.
- Donaldson, T., & Dunfee, W. (2002). Ties that bind in business ethics: Social contracts and why they matter, *Journal of Banking and finance*, *26*, 1853-1865.
- Edwards, J. C. & Karau, S. J. (2007). Psychological contract or social contract? Development of the Employment Contracts Scale. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 13, 67-78.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE.
- Fox, A. (1974). *Beyond contract: Work, power and trust relations*. London, United Kingdom: Faber and Faber.
- Freese, C., & Schalk, R. (2008). How to measure the psychological contract? A critical criteria-based review of measures. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *38*, 269-286.
- Gilbert, J. (1996). A job for life into a life of jobs: The new employment contract. *The TQM Magazine*, 8, 36-42.
- Gouldner, A. W. (1960). The norm of reciprocity: A preliminary statement. *American Sociological Review*, 25, 161-178.
- Grahl, J., & Teague, P. (2009). *Social and industrial relations: The foundation for law justice and society.* Oxford, United Kingdom: University of Oxford.
- Greenhalgh, L., & Rosenblatt, Z. (1984). Job insecurity: Toward conceptual clarity. *Academy of Management Review*, 9, 438-448.
- Guest, D. (1998). Is the psychological contract worth taken seriously? *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 19, 649-664.
- Guest, D. E. (2004). The psychology of the employment relationship: An analysis based on the psychological contract. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *53*, 541-555.
- Guest, D., & Clinton, M. (2006). *Temporary employment contracts, employees' well-being and behaviour: Evidence from the UK.* Department of Management Working Paper No. 38. London, England: King's College.
- Guest, D., & Conway, N. (1998). *Fairness at work and the psychological contract*. Institute of Personnel and Development. London, United Kingdom: CIPD.
- Guest, D. E., & Conway, N. (2002). Public and private sector perspectives on the psychological contract. London, United Kingdom: CIPD.
- Heymans, D. R. (2002). *Job insecurity, job satisfaction and organizational commitment*. (Unpublished master's dissertation). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.

- Hornung, S., Rousseau, D. M., & Glaser, J. (2008). Creating flexible work arrangements through idiosyncratic deals. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*, 655-664.
- Hornung, S., Rousseau, D. M., & Glaser, J. (2009). Why supervisors make idiosyncratic deals: antecedents and the outcomes of i-deals from a managerial perspective. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24(8): 738-764.
- Igbaria, M., & Greenhaus, J. H. (1992). Determinants of MIS employees' turnover intentions: A structural equation model. *Communications of the ACM*, *35*, 35-49.
- Isaksson, A., (2002). Trade credit in Kenyan manufacturing: Evidence from plant level data. Working paper. www.unido.org./userfiles/PuffK/SIN_WPS04.pdf
- Isaksson, K. (2005). *Psychological contracts across employment situations*. National Institute of Working Life, Sweden. Retrieved from http://www.uv.es/%7Epsycon.
- Isaksson, K., Bernhard, C., Claes, R., De Witte, H., Guest, D., Krausz, M., Peiro, J. M., Mohr, G., & Schalk, R. (2003). PSYCONES. Results from pilot phase. Working Paper 2-HPSE-CT-2002-00121 Date of issue: 2003/09/15.
- Isaksson, K., Johansson, G., Linddroth, S., & Magnas, S. (2006). Women's career pattern in Sweden. *Community & Work*, 9, 479-500.
- Johnson, J. L., & O'Leary-Kelly, A. M. (2003). The effects of psychological contract breach and organizational cynicism: not all social exchange violations are created equal. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 24, 627-647.
- Kalleberg, A. L. (2000). Nonstandard employment relations: Part-time, temporary and contract work. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*, 341-365.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2000). Subjective change and its consequences for well-being. *Motivation and Emotion*, 24, 67–84.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating the axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 539–548.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist*, 62, 95–108.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2009). Atlanta: Brief description of the mental health continuum short form (MHC-SF). Retrieved from http://www.sociology.emory.edu/ckeyes/.
- Keyes, C. L. M., & Annas, J. (2009). Feeling good and functioning well: distinctive concepts in ancient philosophy and contemporary science. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4, 197–201.

- Keyser, E. (2010). The changing employment relationship in the chemical industry: The role of employment and psychological contract. Vanderbijlpark, South Africa: North-West University,.
- Lai, L., Rousseau, D. E., & Chang, K. T. T. (2009). Idiosyncratic deals: Coworkers as interested third parties. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *94*, 547-556.
- Landis, H. Grosset, L. (2007). *Employment and the law: A practical guide for the workplace*. Cape Town, South Africa: Juta.
- Lee, G. J., & Faller, N. (2005). Transactional and relational aspects of the psychological contracts of temporary workers. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *35*, 831-847.
- Leontaridi, R. M., & Ward, M. E. (2002). Work-related stress, quitting intentions and absenteeism. Germany: University of Stirling.
- Linde, B., & Schalk, R. (2006). Influence of pre-merger employment relations and individual characteristics on the psychological contract. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 38, 305-320.
- Maharaj, K., Ortlepp. K., & Stacey, A. (2008). Psychological contract and employment equity practices: A comparative study. *Management Dynamics*, 17, 16-26.
- Mauno, S., Kinnunen, U., Mäkikangas, A., & Nätti, J. (2005). Psychological consequences of fixed-term employment and perceived job insecurity among health care staff. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 14, 209-237.
- McCarthy, T. (2004) *Social responsibility in a changing workplace: A comment.* Employment Relations Record (pp. 1-7).
- McDonald, D. J., & Makin, P. J. (2000). The psychological contract, organizational commitment and job satisfaction of temporary staff. *Leadership and Organizational Development Journal*, 21, 84-91.
- McFarlane Shore L. & Tetrick.L. E. (1994). The psychological contract as an explanatory framework in the employment relationship. *Trends in Organizational Behaviour*, 1, 91-109.
- Meitzen, M. E. (1986). Differences in the male and female job-quitting behaviour. *Journal of Labour Economics*, 4(2), 151-168.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1984). Testing the side-bet theory of organisational commitment: Some methodological considerations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69, 362-378.
- Mills, D. Q. (1996). The changing social contract in American business. *European Management Journal*, 14, 451-456.

- Millward, L. J., & Hopkins, L. J. (1998). Psychological contracts, organizational and job commitment. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28, 16-31.
- Mobley, W. H. (1982). *Employee turnover: Causes, consequences, and control.* Reading, MA: Addition-Wesley.
- Moore, J. E. (2002). One road to turnover: An examination of work exhaustion in technology professionals. *MIS Quarterly*, *24*, 141-168.
- More, T. E., (2007). The employment and psychological contract in the Department of Education in the Sedibeng West District: A case study. (Unpublished Master's dissertation). Vanderbijlpark, North-West University, South Africa.
- Morrison, E., & Robinson. S. (1997). When employees feel betrayed: A model of how psychological contract violation develops. *Academy of Management Review*, 22, 226-256.
- Mowday, R. T., Porter, L. W., & Steers, R. M. (1882). *Employee-organisation linkages: The psychology of commitment, absenteeism, and turnover.* New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Näswall, K. & De Witte, H. (2003) Who feels insecure in Europe? Predicting job insecurity from the background variables. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *24*, 189-215.
- Nelson, L., & Tonks, G. (2007). Violations of the psychological contract: Experiences of a group of casual employees. *Research in Practice in Human Resource Management*, 15, 22-36.
- Ng, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2008). Can you get a better deal elsewhere? The effects of psychological contract replicability on organizational commitment over time. *Journal of*
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric theory* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Polvica, A. E. & Nardone, T. (1989). The definition of contingent work. *Monthly Labor Review*, 11, 9-16.
- Preece, H. (1992). Social contract. Finance Week, (pp. 38-39)
- Price, J. L. (1997) Handbook of organisational measurement. *International Journal of Manpower*, 18, 532-537.
- Probst, T. M. (2005). Countering the effects of job insecurity through participative decision making: Lessons from demand-control model. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 10, 320-329.
- Raeder, S. (2005). The fairness of the psychological contract in the context of work flexibility: A multilevel approach. Zurich, Switzerland: Swiss Federal Institute of Technology.

- Robinson, S. L. (1996). Trust and breach of the psychological contract. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41, 574-599.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1989). Psychological and implied contracts in organizations. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 2, 121-139.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1990). New hire perceptions of their own and their employer's obligations: a study of psychological contracts. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 11, 389-400.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1995). *Psychological contracts in organisations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2001). The idiosyncratic deal: Flexibility versus fairness? *Organizational Dynamics*, 29, 260-273.
- Rousseau, D. E. (2005). I-deals: Idiosyncratic deals employees bargain for themselves. New York, NY: Sharpe.
- Schein, E. H. (1980). *Organizational psychology* (3rd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Shore, L. M., & Barksdale, K. (1998). Examining degree of balance and level of obligations in the employment relationship: a social exchange approach. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 731-744.
- Silla, I., Gracia, F. J., & Peiro, J. M. (2005). Job insecurity of health-related outcomes among the different types of temporary workers. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 26, 89-117.
- Sjöberg, A., & Sverke, M. (2000). The interactive effect of job involvement and organizational commitment on job turnover revisited: A note on the mediating role of turnover intention. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 41, 247-252.
- Slabbert, J. A., & Swanepoel, B. J. (2001). *Introduction to employment relations management*. Durban, South Africa: Lexis Nexis.
- Smithson, J., & Lewis, S. (1999). Is job insecurity changing the psychological contract? *Personnel Review*, 29, 680-702.
- Sparks, K., Faragher, B., & Cooper, C. L. (2001). Well-being and occupational health in the 21st century workplace. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*. 74, 489-509.
- SPSS Inc. (2011). SPSS 19.0 for Windows. Chicago, IL: SPSS Inc.
- Straw, B. M., & Ross, J. (1985). Stability in the midst of change: A dispositional approach to job attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *3*, 469-480.

- Steele, J. P., & Fullagar, C. J. (2009). Facilitators and outcomes of student engagement in a college setting. *The Journal of Psychology*, *143*, 5-27.
- Steyn, H. S. (1999). *Praktiese betekenisvolheid: Die gebruik van effekgroottes* [Practical significance: The use of effect sizes]. Wetenskaplike bydraes Reeks B: Natuurwetenskappe Nr. 117. Potchefstroom: PU vir CHO.
- Steyn, L. F. (2009). The role of the psychological contract among blue-collar employees in the underground coal mining industry. (Master of Business Administration). University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- Sutton, G., & Griffin, M. A. (2004). Integrating expectations, experiences, and psychological contract violations: A longitudinal study of new professionals. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 77, 493-514.
- Sverke, M., Hellgren, J., & Naswall, K. (2002). No security: A meta-analysis and review of job insecurity and its consequences. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 6, 242-264.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2001). *Using multivariate statistics* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Taplin, I. M. & Winterton, J. (2007). The importance of management style in labour retention. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 27, 5-18
- Tekleab, A. G., Taylor, M. S., & Lepak, D. P. (2002). Firm's use of high investment human resources systems to manage employees for competitive advantage: Differential use and implications for performance. *Annual Conference for Academy of Management*.
- Tett, R. P., & Meyer, J. P. (1993). Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, and turnover: path analyses based on meta analytical findings. *Personnel Psychology*, 46, 259-293.
- Thornthwaite, L. (2004). Working time and work-family balance: A review of employees' preferences. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 42, 166-184.
- Tsui, A. S., Pearce, J. L., Porter, L.W., & Tripoli, A. M. (1997). Alternative approaches to the employee-organization relationship: Does investment in employees pay off? *Academy of Management Journal*, 40, 1089-1121.
- Turner, N., Barling, J., & Zacharatos, A. (2002). Positive psychology at work: In C. R. Snyder, & S. J. Lopez (Eds.). *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp. 715-725). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Turner, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (1995). Underemployment among recent business college graduates. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *16*, 691-706.

- Turner, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (1999b). A discrepancy model of the psychological contract violation. *Human Resource Management Review*, *9*, 367-386
- Turnley, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2000). Re-examining the effects of psychological contract violations: Unmet expectations and job dissatisfaction as mediators. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 25-42.
- Van Dyne, L., & Ang, S. (1998). Organizational citizenship behavior of contingent employees in Singapore. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41, 692-703.
- Vandenberg, R. J., & Scarpello, V. (1990). The matching model: An examination of the processes underlying realistic job reviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 60-67.
- Wadsworth, J. K., Chaplin, K. S., Allen, P. H., & Smith, A. P. (2010). What is a good job? Current perspectives on work and improved health and well-being. *The Open Occupational Health and Safety Journal*, 2, 9-15.
- Wocke, A., & Sutherland, M. (2008). The impact of employment equity regulations on psychological contract in South Africa. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19, 528-542.
- Zhao, H., Wayne, S. J., Glibkowski, B. C., & Bravo, J. (2007). The impact of psychological contract breach on work-related outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 60, 647-680.

CHAPTER 3

ARTICLE 2

Contractual Relations between Employers and Employees in a Higher Education Institution: Individual and Organisational Outcomes

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between experiences of contractual relations and job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention of employees in a higher education institution. A cross-sectional survey design was used with 300 employees in a higher education institution. The State of the Employment and Psychological Contract Scales, Violation of Psychological Contract Scale, Job Satisfaction Scale, Mental Health Continuum – Short Form and Intention to Quit Scale were administered. The results showed that psychological contract violation, job dissatisfaction and low flourishing (emotional, psychological and social well-being) directly impacted turnover intention. Lack of psychological contract fulfilment indirectly and negatively impacted job satisfaction and flourishing via psychological contract violation. Psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and low flourishing of employees in a higher education institution. The results confirmed the importance of psychological contract fulfilment and non-violation for the job satisfaction, flourishing and retention of staff in higher education institutions.

Key words: Psychological contract, fulfilment, violation, well-being, turnover intention

Employees within higher education institutions face a complex environment and play an important role in the reconstruction and development in South Africa (Cross, Mungadi, & Rouhani, 2002). Fundamental to the success of higher education institutions, effective talent management and employees' subjective well-being is the type of exchange relationship that develops between employees and employers (Armstrong, 2006). According to Blau (1964), social exchange theory can be used to understand the employment relationship. A lack of balance in the fulfilment of obligations in social exchange relationships leads to negative consequences, while mutual high obligation relationships yield positive attitudes and positive experiences of exchange relationships (Shore & Barksdale, 1998). Social exchanges are associated with employees' attitudes (job satisfaction), subjective well-being and work behaviour (e.g. intention to quit) (Cole, Schaninger, & Harris, 2002).

The employment relationship offers social relationships and personal fulfilment to employees. However, employees may experience exploitation of their rights, and inferiority in the employment relationship (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). Employees are informed about their rights and are prepared to use legislation to enforce these rights. It is vital that employers manage the needs of employees; if not, their proliferation can undermine trust and cooperation at work (Rousseau, 2001). A need exists to explore the role of contractual relations in creating positive relations, positive organisations and subjective well-being (Russell, 2008, p. 128).

The entire continuum of expectations in the employment relationship consists of a combination of the employment- and psychological contract (Slabbert & Swanepoel, 2001). Contracts establish and maintain the employment relationship (Barnard, 1973). The employment relationship is governed by what has been described as an incomplete and openended employment contract. This open-endedness of the conditions in the employment relationship, which were initially bargained for by the individual employee, may be customised through an oral agreement known as the construct idiosyncratic deals (i-deals); a shift in the original employment agreement then becomes evident (Rousseau, 2001). Idiosyncratic deals refer to arrangements that are mutually beneficial in the employment relationship, where the employee can, to a great extent, exercise control to accomplish personal objectives (Hornung, Rousseau, & Glaser, 2009). Employees are increasingly seeking to improve their original employment contracts with personalised i-deals, including non-standard conditions aimed at satisfying their personal needs (Lawler & Finegold, 2000).

Supervisors authorise the idiosyncratic deals employees negotiate. These i-deals are often granted to employees to make amends for undelivered obligations (e.g. payment, promotions, and work conditions) on the part of the employer (Robinson, Kraatz, & Rousseau, 1994; Rousseau, 2006; Turnley & Feldman, 1999).

Fairness and trust are the key concerns of psychological contracts, and good employment relations are associated with the negotiation of i-deals that meet the personal needs of the employee but still contribute to the goals of the organisation (Rousseau, 2001). The employer is held responsible for issues such as fairness and quality of life (Donaldson & Dunfee, 2002). A strong, positive employment relationship with the employer will diminish the likelihood of employees perceiving small discrepancies between their and the organisation's notion of what was promised as a violation of the psychological contract (Rousseau, 1995).

Good employment relations are associated with a positive psychological contract based on trust and fairness, and this is expected to lead to job satisfaction, well-being and retention of employees (Diedericks, 2012; Guest & Conway, 1997). The nature of the contract between the employer and employee affects employees' experiences (e.g. fulfilment and violation) thereof, and impacts on individual and organisational outcomes (Marks, 2001). Psychological contract violation mediates the relationship between psychological contract fulfilment and work outcomes (Cavanaugh & Noe, 1999; Diedericks, 2012). The beliefs held by employers and employees play a critical role in the field of employment relations and also influence employees' individual and organisational outcomes (Cantisano, Dominguez, & Depolo, 2008).

When employees perceive differences between the ideal and the actual set of obligations as agreed with the employer, they become dissatisfied with their jobs. Such dissatisfaction can affect the employee's intention to stay (Edwards & Karau, 2007). However, little scientific information is available regarding the relationship between experiences of the psychological contract and positive work outcomes. Studies have also failed to establish a conclusive relation between type of contract and a range of outcomes such as job satisfaction and subjective well-being (De Cuyper & De Witte, 2006). Employees who experience positive emotions on the job will experience positive outcomes in their work role (Staw, Sutton, & Pelled, 1994). If employees experience fulfilment and non-violation of their employment and

psychological contracts, they will experience job satisfaction and well-being. If they experience good contractual relations (i.e. fulfilment and non-violation of contracts) and subjective well-being, they will be less inclined to quit (Diedericks, 2012).

The aim of this study was to investigate whether psychological contract fulfilment and violation predict employees' job satisfaction, well-being and intention to quit. The current research contributes to a better understanding of the role and importance of the psychological contract in maintaining a healthy employment relationship in higher education institutions in a developing country context.

Employment and Psychological Contract Fulfilment and Violation

Different types of contracts are found within the workplace, namely the employment contract and the psychological contract. The employment contract consists of two types of contracts: a permanent and a temporary contract. A permanent contract is defined by Kalleberg (2000) as normal or standard work arrangements; it forms the basis of labour law and collective bargaining structures in most industrialised nations. Standard work arrangements are characterised by the fact that employment (a) was performed full-time, (b) would continue indefinitely, and (c) was performed at the employer's place of business under his supervision. Temporary work can be defined as jobs in which individuals do not have an explicit or implicit contract for long-term employment or in which the minimum hours worked vary in a non-systematic manner (Polivka & Nardone, 1989).

Rousseau (1990, p. 390) defines the psychological contract as "[t]he individual's beliefs and perceptions about the mutual obligations between the employer and the employee regarding the terms of their exchange agreement". For the purposes of this study, the psychological contract's definition is similar to the definition by McLean Parks, Kidder, and Gallagher (1998, p. 698) where it is conceptualised as an "idiosyncratic set of reciprocal expectations held by employees concerning their obligations (i.e. what they will do for their employer) and their entitlements (i.e. what they expect to receive in return)".

Robinson et al. (1994) found that the reactions demonstrated by employees may vary, depending on the contract that is violated. Part-time employees' violation of obligations is experienced mostly in the form of an inequity in economic exchange. Employees will

perceive it as a reduction of employer obligation and will experience feelings of injustice and betrayal. When obligations of permanent employees are violated, it is regarded as serious to employees and they are strongly affected. The social relationship may even be in jeopardy and a total destruction of the employment relationship may occur, e.g. the employee may feel that the employer no longer values the relational contract and experience a loss of job security, and then demonstrate less engagement (not perform extra-role behaviours) because he/she does not feel obligated to do so.

Robinson and Rousseau (1994) assert that violation of the psychological contract can result in anger and a decrease in trust. According to Rousseau (1989), violations of expectations result in experiences of anger, resentment, a sense of injustice and wrongful harm. Psychological contracts are based on trust and the violation thereof can lead to strong reactions and feelings of betrayal in employees (Robinson & Rousseau, 1994), while less severe violations can have consequences such as a decrease in employee job satisfaction (Anderson & Schalk, 1998) and a higher turnover (Guzzo, Noonan, & Elron, 1994). When violation is perceived, employee's withdraw from the employment relationship and pay more attention to economic aspects such as remuneration, thus converting the once relational psychological contract into a more transactional one (Robinson et al., 1994). Gakovic and Tetrick (2003) found the fulfilment of organisational obligations to be positively related to job satisfaction. As mentioned by Robinson and Morrison (1995), the more embedded the promises are between the parties, the more intense violation will be experienced.

Contractual Relations, Subjective Well-being and Turnover Intention

Subjective well-being, according to Keyes (1998, p. 121), is "the absence of negative conditions and feelings, the result of adjustment and the adaptation to a hazardous world". Two forms of subjective well-being are relevant for this study, namely flourishing/languishing and job satisfaction. Keyes and Annas (2009) define subjective well-being as the appraisals individuals make regarding the quality of their lives. Keyes (2005) argues that mental health is regarded as a syndrome of symptoms of an individual's subjective well-being and that measures of mental health and mental illness form two distinct continua. The mental health continuum consists of complete mental health (flourishing) and incomplete mental health (languishing). Keyes (2007) describes flourishing as a pattern of

positive feelings and positive functioning in life. On the opposite continuum is *languishing*, which can be defined as the absence of mental health.

Individuals' positions on the mental health continuum result from their scores on three types of well-being, namely emotional-, psychological- and social well-being (Keyes, 2000, 2007). Emotional well-being includes positive affect (being energetic, cheerful, and good-spirited) and satisfaction with life (showing general satisfaction and happiness with life overall). Psychological well-being includes self-acceptance (holding positive attitudes towards the self), personal growth (being ambitious and seeking to maximise own potential), purpose in life (having meaning and purpose in life), environmental mastery (managing the personal environment to suit own needs), autonomy (having socially acceptable internal standards and values as guidelines in life), and positive relations with others (establishing trusting interpersonal relationships). Social well-being includes social acceptance (being positive towards and accepting of diversity in people), social actualisation (believing in the potential of others), social coherence (finding society and social life meaningful and comprehensible), social contribution (regarding own daily activities as adding value to society and others), and social integration (experiencing sense of relatedness, comfort, and support from community).

Research by Gracia, Silla, Peiró, and Fortes-Ferreira (2007) showed that when employees perceive the state of the psychological contract as being good, the employee will experience greater psychological well-being. The results clearly showed that if one wishes to understand employee behaviours and maintain their well-being, it is necessary to consider the state of the psychological contract and not only the content of the psychological contract. Conway, Guest, and Trenberth (2011) found that the violation of obligations had a negative impact on the job satisfaction of employees, while fulfilment of obligations had a lesser impact in that it merely maintained the effect on well-being and attitudes of the employee. Eisenberger, Huntington, Hutchison, and Sowa (1986) found that when obligations associated with the psychological contract are not met, employees may feel that the organisation does not value their contributions and does not care about their "well-being" and the "social relationship" that exists between them.

De Cuyper and De Witte (2006) assert that violation of the psychological contract has an influence on permanent employees. When the autonomy of permanent employees is reduced, they will experience reduced levels of job satisfaction. Too high levels of work load will

reduce life satisfaction for permanent employees. It is suggested that clear communication to clarify mutual expectations be implemented by the organisation in order to maintain employees' positive attitudes and behaviour. Robinson and Rousseau (1994) reported that contract violations were negatively related to satisfaction and to employees' intention to quit.

Sutton and Griffin (2004) showed that the pre-entry expectations of participants positively correlated with job satisfaction. Post-entry experiences regarding supervision predicted psychological contract violation and the post-entry experiences as well as psychological contract violations were found to jointly predict job satisfaction. The findings jointly reinforce a positive relationship between job satisfaction and turnover intention of the employees. Turnley and Feldman (2000) found that unmet expectations indirectly impact turnover intention via job dissatisfaction. The study also showed that violation of the psychological contract is strongly related to employees' intention to quit (Turnley & Feldman, 2000).

An exploratory study by Maharaj, Ortlepp, and Stacey (2008) showed that there is a significant relation between the experiences of the psychological contract and intention to leave, especially when the consequences of organisational change are influencing a previously established employment arrangement influencing the very essence of the agreement that leaves employees with mistrust and uncertainty. Suazo, Turnley, and Mai-Dalton (2005) found that psychological contract violation fully mediated the relationship between psychological contract breach (i.e. lack of fulfilment) and intention to quit.

Locke (1976, p. 1300) defines job satisfaction as "a pleasurable or emotional state [affect] resulting from the appraisal [cognition] of one's job or job experiences". Aydogdu and Asikgil (2011) state that job satisfaction is an attitude employees have towards their jobs, a summary evaluation of their work, of which the level of satisfaction can vary from employee to employee as a result of individual or job-related factors that the employee uses when determining his level of satisfaction. Employees compare the actual satisfaction gained from the job with what they perceive the satisfaction in relation to certain job factors (such as pay or autonomy) should be (Matthewman, Rose, & Hetherington, 2009).

Lack of job satisfaction was found to be a determining factor leading to an employee's final decision not to stay on in the organisation (Moore, 2002; Shahnawaz & Jafri, 2009; Sillamäe,

2010). Social exchange relationships characterised by trust between employees and employers predict positive work behaviour (e.g. lower intention to quit) as well as positive attitudes of employees, e.g. job satisfaction (Cole et al., 2002). Changes in employment agreements and a failure of senior management to appreciate how these changes are experienced by those lower in the organisation can lead to perceptions of employees that promises made to them have been broken, resulting in experiences of psychological contract violation (Henry & Jenkins, 1997).

Knights, Kennedy, and Cook (2005) found a strong negative relationship between psychological contract violation and job satisfaction. They argued that violations contributed to employees' feelings of job dissatisfaction through non-delivery of knowledge and skills that may have enabled employees to feel less pressure and stress in their jobs, thus resulting in the given empirical relationship between violation and job dissatisfaction in this study. Aydogdu and Asikgil (2011) found that when employees are treated well, they develop a positive attitude towards the organisation. These employees will also experience a high job satisfaction and will stay on in the organisation.

Hypotheses

The following hypotheses are formulated:

Hypothesis 1: Psychological contract fulfilment is positively associated with job satisfaction.

Hypothesis 2: Psychological contract fulfilment is positively associated with flourishing.

Hypothesis 3: Psychological contract fulfilment is negatively associated with turnover intention.

Hypothesis 4: Psychological contract violation is negatively associated with job satisfaction.

Hypothesis 5: Psychological contract violation is negatively associated with flourishing.

Hypothesis 6: Psychological contract violation is positively associated with turnover intention.

Hypothesis 7: Psychological contract fulfilment indirectly affects job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention via psychological contract violation.

Hypothesis 8: Psychological contract violation indirectly affects turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and low flourishing.

Method

Research Design

A cross-sectional survey design was used to gather data at a particular point in time from a target population primarily by using questionnaires (Shaughnessy, Zechmeister, & Zechmeister, 2011).

Participants

The sample included individuals working at a higher education institution in the Vaal Triangle. A population of 483 academic and administrative employees was targeted. The sample included employees from all levels, ranging from unskilled blue-collar employees to management. The lowest-level employees had a grade 10 education level and consequently a sufficient literacy level to accurately complete the questionnaire. A response rate of 62% (N = 300) was obtained.

A total of 65.6% of the participants had permanent contracts. Regarding the gender of the participants, 58.2% were female and 31.8% male. The majority of the participants (62%) had been employed by the institution for different periods of less than 10 years. Employees with tertiary education comprised 70.33% of the studied population, while the remaining 30.33% were divided equally between employees with grade 12 and those that possessed a grade 10 certificate.

Table 1

Characteristics of the Participants (N=300)

Item	Category	Frequency	Percentage
Classification of job	Unskilled blue-collar worker	41	11.6
	Skilled blue-collar worker	13	3.7
	Lower-level white-collar worker	96	27.3
	Intermediate white-collar worker	30	8.5
	Upper white-collar worker	114	32.4
	Management or director	6	1.7
Type of Contract	Temporary employee	69	19.6
	Permanent employee	231	65.6
Gender	Female	205	58.2
	Male	95	31.8
Age	20 - 25 years	29	9.7
	26 - 31 years	48	16.0
	32 - 37 years	74	24.7
	38 - 43 years	48	16.0
	44 - 49 years	41	13.7
	50 - 55 years	35	11.7
	56 and older	25	8.3
Tenure	0 - 1 year	46	15.3
	2 - 3 years	62	20.7
	4 - 5 years	38	12.7
	6 - 10 years	56	18.7
	11 - 15 years	47	15.7
	16 - 20 years	30	10.0
	21 and longer	21	7.0
Qualifications	Grade 10	43	12.2
	Grade 11 or 12	46	13.1
	Diploma	58	16.5
	Bachelor's degree	50	14.2
	Postgraduate degree	103	29.3

Measuring Instruments

A biographical questionnaire was used to obtain characteristics of the participants concerning their age, race, gender, type of contract, educational level, marital status, dependants, position, union membership, and number of years working for the higher education institution.

The *Employment Contract Fulfilment Scale* (ECFS; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure the fulfilment of the employment contract. The ECFS consists of four items which are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). An example item is "My current employment contract is the one that I prefer".

The *Employer Obligations Questionnaire* (EOQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure the fulfilment of promises and commitments of employers to employees. The EOQ consists of 15 items that are arranged along a frequency-rating scale varying from 0 (*No*) to 5 (*Yes, and promise fully kept*). Example of questions include "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to providing you with interesting work?", to "Has your organisation promised or committed itself to helping you deal with problems you encounter outside work?" A principal factor analysis showed that two internally consistent factors could be extracted on the EOQ, namely Psychological Contract: Job and Psychological Contract: Work Conditions (see Table 4, p. 42).

The *Violation of Contract Questionnaire* (VCQ; Isaksson et al., 2003) was used to measure violation of contracts. An examples of a question is: "Looking overall at how far this institution has or has not kept its promises and commitments, to what extent do you feel: happy, angry, pleased, violated, disappointed, and grateful?" The six items are rated on a five-point scale ranging from one (*strongly disagree*) to five (*strongly agree*). Keyser (2010) obtained a Cronbach alpha coefficient of 0.89 for the VCQ in a sample of employees in the petrochemical industry in South Africa.

The *Job Satisfaction Scale* (JSS; Price, 1997) was used to measure job satisfaction. The JSS consists of four items (e.g. "I am not happy with my job" and "My organisation shows very little concern for me"). The questions are rated on a scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). Isaksson et al. (2003) found the reliability of job satisfaction to be $\alpha = 0.82$ in previous studies.

The *Mental Health Continuum Short Form* (MHC-SF; Keyes, 2009) was used to measure emotional, social and psychological well-being. The MCH-SF consists of 14 items which are rated using a six-point scale varying from 1 (*never*) to 6 (*every day*). Three items measure emotional well-being, six items measure psychological well-being and five items measure social well-being. Acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha > 0.80$) and construct validity of the

MHC-SF have been found by Diedericks (2012) in a sample of information technology professionals in South Africa.

The *Intention to Quit Questionnaire* (ITQ, Price, 1997) is a modified commitment measure using four items ("These days, I often feel like quitting"; "Despite the obligations I have made to this institution, I want to quit my job as soon as possible"). The questions are rated on a Likert scale varying from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The Cronbach alphas in previous studies range from 0.79 to 0.82 in different samples (Isaksson, 2002).

Research Procedure

The study has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the North-West University. The participants were briefed about the research project and afforded the opportunity to ask questions and raise issues before considering participation. A clear outline of the roles and responsibilities of all the parties involved was given. Participation in the project was voluntary and anonymous, and participants completed a consent form. The survey questionnaire was delivered to the target group by hand in April 2011. The questionnaire had a covering letter explaining the purpose of the research. The trust of the participants was obtained by assuring them that all information would be treated as confidential and not be disclosed to anyone. Participants were assured that their participation was voluntary and that they could participate anonymously. The raw data was captured and converted to an SPSS dataset.

Statistical Analysis

The analysis was carried out with the SPSS 20.0 program (SPSS, 2012). Descriptive statistics were used to analyse the data. Cronbach alpha coefficients (α) were used to assess the internal consistency of the measuring instruments. Pearson correlation coefficients were used to specify the relationships between variables. The level of statistical significance was set at $p \le 0.05$. A cut-off point of 0.30 (medium effect, Cohen, 1988; Steyn, 2002) was set for the practical significance of correlation coefficients.

Hierarchical multiple regression analyses were used to assess the amount of variance in the dependent variables explained by the independent variables. The procedure to determine mediation effects, as explained by Hayes and Preacher (in press), was followed to compute the bootstrap estimated indirect effects of contractual relations on job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention. Two-sided 95% bias-corrected confidence intervals (5000 trials) and the statistical significance of indirect effects were computed. The significance of the indirect effects was assessed in terms of zero versus non-zero coefficients rather than in terms of statistical significance only (Preacher & Hayes, 2009).

Results

Descriptive Statistics, Alpha coefficients and Correlations

Next, descriptive statistics, alpha coefficients and Pearson correlations were computed. The results are displayed in Table 2.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients and Correlations of the Measuring
Instruments

Sc	ale	Mean	SD	α	1	2	3	4	5	6
1.	Employment Contract	3.76	1.08	0.79	-	-	-	-	-	-
2.	PC: Job	2.18	1.39	0.79	0.17^{*}	-	-	-	-	-
3.	PC: Work Conditions	2.35	1.38	0.89	0.04	0.63^{*++}	-	-	-	-
4.	PC: Violation	3.39	0.83	0.79	0.06	$0.47^{*_{+}}$	$0.48^{*_{+}}$	-	-	-
5.	Job Satisfaction	3.84	0.85	0.71	0.05	$0.31^{*_{+}}$	$0.30^{*_{+}}$	$0.57^{*_{++}}$	-	-
6.	Intention to Quit	2.15	0.98	0.77	-0.06	-0.16*	-0.22*	-0.48*+	-0.61*++	-
7.	Flourishing	3.20	0.91	0.84	-0.03	0.20^*	0.24^{*}	0.35^{*+}	$0.42^{*_{+}}$	-0.43*+

^{*} p < 0.01

Compared to the guideline of 0.70 provided by Nunnally and Bernstein (1994), Table 2 shows acceptable Cronbach alpha coefficients varying from 0.71 to 0.89 for all the scales. Therefore all the scales showed sufficient reliability to be used for the subsequent analysis. Table 2 shows that the fulfilment of the psychological contract (job expectations) was statistically significantly related to the perception of the employment contract non-violation

⁺ r > 0.30 (practically significant, medium effect)

⁺⁺ r > 0.50 (practically significant, large effect)

of the psychological contract (medium effect), job satisfaction (large effect), low intention to quit and flourishing. Fulfilment of the psychological contract (expectations regarding work conditions) was statistically significantly related to non-violation of the psychological contract (medium effect), job satisfaction (medium effect), low intention to quit and flourishing. Non-violation of the psychological contract was statistically significantly related to job satisfaction (large effect), low intention to quit (medium effect) and flourishing (medium effect). Job satisfaction was statistically significantly related to low intention to quit (large effect) and flourishing (medium effect).

Multiple Regression Analyses

Table 3 shows the results of multiple regression analyses with biographical variables, type of contract (temporary or permanent), employment contract, fulfilment of the psychological contract and violation of the psychological contract as independent variables; and job satisfaction and flourishing as dependent variables.

Table 3
Regression Analyses with Biographical Variables, Type of Contract, State and Violation of the Psychological Contract as Independent Variables and Job Satisfaction and Flourishing as Dependent Variables

Variable		Job Sati	sfaction			Flour	ishing	
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
(Constant)	3.67**	3.74**	3.16**	1.87**	3.13**	3.40**	2.99	2.19
Gender	0.06	0.07	0.02	-0.01	0.08	0.09	0.06	0.04
Qualification	0.06	0.06	0.05	-0.01	-0.03	-0.03	-0.04	-0.07
Experience	-0.23**	-0.22**	- 0.21**	-0.06	-0.13*	-0.08	-0.08	0.01
Age	0.15*	0.15*	0.16*	0.14*	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.07
Type of Contract	-	-0.04	-0.02	-0.06	-	-0.09	-0.05	-0.07
Employment Contract	-	-	0.06	0.04	-	-	-0.03	-0.04
PC: Job	-	-	0.19*	0.05	-	-	0.12	0.04
PC: Job Conditions	-	-	0.16*	-0.00	-	-	0.14	0.05
PC: Violation	-	-	-	0.54**	-	-	-	0.31**
R^2	0.05	0.05	0.15	0.34	0.02	0.03	0.08	0.14
F	3.52**	2.83*	6.43**	16.67**	1.65	1.71	3.12**	5.29**
df	4/293	5/292	8/289	9/288	4/293	5/292	8/289	9/288
ΔR^2	0.05	0.00	0.10	0.19	0.02	0.01	0.05	0.06
ΔF	3.52**	0.15	11.90**	83.82**	1.65	1.93	5.33**	20.91*
df	4/294	1/292	3/289	1/288	4/293	1/292	3/289	1/288

^{*} *p* < 0.05

Table 3 reveals that demographical variables and type of contract explained 5% of the variance in the job satisfaction, F = 2.83, p < 0.05. The regression coefficients of work experience ($\beta = -0.22$, p < 0.01) and age ($\beta = 0.15$, p < 0.05) were statistically significant. When psychological contract fulfilment was entered as an independent variable (in step 3), it resulted in a statistically significant increase in predicting the variance in job satisfaction, $\Delta F = 11.90$, p < 0.01, $\Delta R^2 = 0.10$. The regression coefficients of work experience ($\beta = -0.21$, p < 0.01), psychological contract fulfilment: job ($\beta = 0.19$, p < 0.01), and psychological contract: work conditions ($\beta = 0.16$, p < 0.05) were statistically significant. Entering psychological contract violation (in step 4) resulted in a statistically significant increase in the percentage of variance in job satisfaction ($\Delta F = 83.82$, p < 0.01, $\Delta R^2 = 0.19$). The regression

^{**} p < 0.01

coefficients of age (β = 0.14, p < 0.05) and psychological contract violation (β = 0.54, p < 0.01) were statistically significant.

Table 3 explains that demographical variables and type of contract explained 3% of the variance in flourishing, F = 1.71, p > 0.05. When psychological contract fulfilment was entered as an independent variable (in step 3), it resulted in a statistically significant increase in predicting the variance in flourishing ($\Delta F = 5.33$, p < 0.01, $\Delta R^2 = 0.05$). None of the regression coefficients were statistically significant. Entering psychological contract violation (in step 4) resulted in a statistically significant increase in the percentage of variance in flourishing ($\Delta F = 20.91$, p < 0.01, $\Delta R^2 = 0.06$). The regression coefficient of psychological contract violation ($\beta = 0.31$, p < 0.01) was statistically significant.

Table 4 shows the results of multiple regression analyses with biographical variables, type of contract (temporary or permanent), employment contract, fulfilment of the psychological contract and violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction and flourishing as independent variables; and turnover intention as the dependent variable.

Table 4

Regression Analyses with the State and Violation of the Psychological Contract, Job

Satisfaction and Flourishing as Independent Variables and Turnover Intention as the

Dependent Variable

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
(Constant)	1.88**	1.88**	2.47**	3.95**	5.33**
Gender	-0.00	-0.00	0.04	0.06	0.07
Qualification	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.10	0.08
Experience	0.19*	0.19*	0.18*	0.03	0.01
Age	-0.10	-0.10	-0.11	-0.09	-0.02
Type of Contract	-	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.01
Employment Contract	-	-	-0.08	-0.07	-0.05
PC: Job	-	-	-0.05	0.08	0.11
PC: Work Conditions	-	-	-0.17*	-0.01	0.00
PC: Violation	-	-	-	-0.53**	-0.24**
Job Satisfaction	-	-	-	-	-0.44**
Flourishing	-	-	-	-	-0.19**
R^2	0.03	0.03	0.08	0.26	0.43
F	2.28	1.81	3.08**	11.44**	21.39**
df	4/293	5/292	8/289	9/288	11/286
ΔR^2	0.03	0.00	0.05	0.19	0.17
ΔF	2.28	0.00	5.06**	72.21**	49.03
df	4/293	1/292	3/289	1/288	2/286

^{*} *p* < 0.05

Table 4 indicates that demographic variables and type of contract predicted 3% of the variance in turnover intention of employees, F = 1.81, p > 0.05. When the experiences of the employment contract and psychological contract fulfilment were added as independent variables (in step 3), it resulted in a statistically significant increase in predicting the variance in turnover intention ($\Delta F = 5.06$, p < .01, $\Delta R^2 = .05$). The regression coefficients of experience ($\beta = 0.18$, p < .05) and psychological contract fulfilment: work conditions ($\beta = -0.17$, p < 0.05) were statistically significant. Entering psychological contract violation (in step 4) resulted in a statistically significant increase in the percentage of variance explained in turnover intention ($\Delta F = 72.21$, p < 0.01, $\Delta R^2 = 0.19$). The regression coefficient of

^{**} p < 0.01

psychological contract violation (β = -0.53, p < 0.01) was statistically significant. Entering flourishing and job satisfaction (in step 5) resulted in a statistically significant increase in the percentage of variance explained in turnover intention (ΔF = 49.03, p < 0.01, ΔR^2 = 0.17). The regression coefficients of psychological contract violation (β = -0.24, p < 0.01), job satisfaction (β = -0.44, p < 0.01), and flourishing (β = -0.19, p < 0.01) were statistically significant.

Indirect Effects

To test whether employment contract and fulfilment of the psychological contract indirectly affect job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention via violation of the psychological contract, indirect effects were computed, using the analytical approach of Hayes and Preacher (in press). These authors recommended bias-corrected confidence intervals (CIs) as obtained through bootstrapping to measure indirect effects. Lower CIs (LCIs) and upper CIs (UCIs) are reported. The results are reported in Table 5.

Table 5
Indirect Effects of Independent Variables on Job Satisfaction, Flourishing and Turnover
Intention via Psychological Contract Violation

Variable	J	ob satisf	action	Flourishing		
	EFF	SE	95% CI	EFF	SE	95% CI
Omnibus	0.13	0.03	[0.08, 0.20]	0.08	0.02	[0.04, 0.13]
Employment Contract	0.01	0.02	[-0.04, 0.05]	0.01	0.01	[-0.03. 0.03]
PC: Job	0.10	0.02	[0.06, 0.14]	0.06	0.02	[0.03, 0.10]
PC: Job Conditions	0.09	0.03	[0.04, 0.14]	0.05	0.02	[0.02, 0.09]

Regarding the indirect effects on job satisfaction, the effects of psychological contract fulfilment did not include zeros. Therefore, psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted job satisfaction via psychological contract violation. The indirect effects of the employment contract and fulfilment of the psychological contract on flourishing via psychological contract violation did not include zeros. Therefore, experiences of the

employment and psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted flourishing of employees via psychological contract violation.

Table 6 shows the indirect effects of the employment contract and psychological contract fulfilment and violation on turnover intention via job satisfaction and flourishing.

Table 6
Indirect Effects of Independent Variables on Turnover Intention via Job Satisfaction and Flourishing

Variable	EFF	SE	95% CI
Job Satisfaction			
Omnibus	-0.15	0.04	[-0.23, -0.09]
Employment Contract	-0.02	0.02	[-0.06, 0.03]
PC: Job	-0.02	0.02	[-0.06, 0.05]
PC: Work Conditions	-0.00	0.03	[-0.06, 0.05]
PC Violation	-0.15	0.04	[-0.38, -0.19]
Flourishing			
Omnibus	-0.02	0.01	[-0.04, -0.01]
Employment Contract	0.01	0.01	[-0.02, 0.02]
PC: Job	-0.00	0.01	[-0.02, 0.02]
PC: Work Conditions	-0.01	0.01	[-0.04, 0.01]
PC Violation	-0.07	0.01	[-0.04, -0.01]

Regarding the indirect effects on turnover intention, the effect of psychological contract violation for job satisfaction did not include zeros. Therefore, psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job (dis)satisfaction. The effect of psychological contract violation for flourishing did not include zeros. Therefore, violation of the psychological contract indirectly impacted turnover intention via lack of flourishing of employees.

Table 7 depicts the results of the hypotheses testing in this study.

Table 7

Results of Hypotheses Testing

Hypothesis	Decision	Implication
Hypothesis 1	Accepted	Psychological contract fulfilment is positively
		associated with job satisfaction
Hypothesis 2	Accepted	Psychological contract fulfilment is positively
		associated with flourishing
Hypothesis 3	Accepted	Psychological contract fulfilment is negatively
		associated with turnover intention.
Hypothesis 4-6	Accepted	Psychological contract violation is negatively
		associated with job dissatisfaction, low flourishing
		and turnover intention
Hypothesis 7	Accepted	Psychological contract fulfilment indirectly affects
		job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention
		via psychological contract violation.
Hypothesis 8	Accepted	Psychological contract violation indirectly affects
		turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and low
		flourishing.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between experiences of contractual relations, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention of employees in a higher education institution. The results showed that psychological contract violation, job dissatisfaction and lack of flourishing directly impacted turnover intention. Lack of psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted job dissatisfaction and languishing via psychological contract violation. Psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and languishing of employees.

Psychological contract fulfilment and less work experience predicted 10% of the variance in job satisfaction. The dimension of psychological contract fulfilment, which predicts job satisfaction, is fulfilment of expectations regarding work conditions. Employees with less

work experience and whose expectations regarding work conditions were fulfilled by the employer were more satisfied with their jobs compared to those who had more work experience and whose expectations regarding work conditions were not fulfilled. However, being satisfied seemed to be stronger associated with their psychological contracts not being violated. Age also seemed to play a small role: older employees that did not experience psychological contract violation were more satisfied with their jobs at the higher education institution. Regarding flourishing of employees, the results showed that only psychological contract violation impacted moderately on employees' emotional, psychological and social well-being. Isaksson et al. (2003) found that violation of the psychological contract was associated with lower levels of employee well-being.

Employees' work experience and psychological contract fulfilment predicted turnover intention of employees in this study. However, when psychological contract violation was considered in addition to these factors, only psychological contract violation predicted turnover intention of employees significantly and strongly. Psychological contract violation, flourishing and job satisfaction had a strong effect on turnover intention.

Analyses of the indirect effects revealed that psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted job satisfaction and flourishing via psychological contract violation. These results provide support for the important role of both psychological contract fulfilment and non-violation of the psychological contract for the subjective well-being of employees in a higher education institution. Psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and low flourishing of employees. Diedericks (2012) found that when information technology professionals perceived violation of the psychological contract, their job satisfaction and flourishing decreased significantly, while their turnover intention increased. Diedericks (2012) also found that psychological contract violation had indirect effects on job satisfaction, turnover intention and flourishing.

It was notable that formal employment contract fulfilment did not play a significant role in the subjective well-being and turnover intention of employees. The reason for this is that the employer does not violate the employment contract. Also, mechanisms exist which can be used by employees to deal with non-adherence to formal employment contracts. However, the findings emphasise that psychological contract fulfilment and non-violation of psychological contracts are the foundation that delivers sound employment relations in the exchange relationship. Psychological contract fulfilment had indirect effects on psychological contract violation, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention. Significantly, it was fulfilment of the psychological contract regarding work conditions – and not the job itself – which played an important role in psychological contract violation, job satisfaction, flourishing and turnover intention of employees in a higher education institution. Employees spend more time at work, and not only the job, but also the atmosphere and conditions in the work situation, impact their subjective well-being (Gavin & Mason, 2004).

From the perspective of social exchange theory (Blau, 1964), non-fulfilment and violation of obligations to provide good working conditions (possibilities to work together in a pleasant way, an environment free from violence and harassment, a good working atmosphere, a safe working environment, fair treatment by managers and supervisors, flexibility in matching demands of non-work roles with work, assistance to deal with problems they encounter outside work, and assistance in improving future employment prospects) will result in job dissatisfaction, un-well-being and turnover intention. Various studies (Keyser, 2010; Paz-Fuchs, 2009; Rousseau, 1995, 2001) showed that the employment relationship (which rests heavily on expectations which are often not discussed) affects the fulfilment and well-being of employees. Indeed, violation expectations of the psychological contract had strong indirect effects on turnover intention (via job dissatisfaction and languishing) in this study. These findings are in line with the findings of Diedericks (2012) in a sample of information technology professionals in South Africa.

Limitations

The following limitations can be noted regarding what was experienced when conducting the study. The research design was cross-sectional; this had a limitation regarding the cause-and-effect relationships. Due to the nature of the sampling method and questionnaire, the attitudes, opinions and views of participants at a particular point in time are represented in the findings. A longitudinal study is necessary to establish the causal relationships among the variables.

It is furthermore suggested that the sample size be increased and that more universities be involved – perhaps via the internet. Expanding the sample size will allow for better generalisation of results and increase the external validity of the results.

Recommendations

Management needs to create opportunities for the negotiation of the existing psychological contracts. Management must avoid psychological contract violation by fulfilling their promises regarding the following issues: training and development, supervision and feedback, promotion and advancement, long-term job security, management of change, power and responsibility, and work environment. These are the issues that employees have negotiated with the employer even though they do not appear in the written employment contract. Principles of workplace justice and effective communication need to be embedded in the higher education institution's culture and be visible to employees in their interaction with management when the psychological contract is negotiated and amended (Knights et al., 2005).

Most of these issues are negotiated during the recruitment process. However, they evolve over time, which is why good communication is essential in the employment relationship so that the terms of the psychological contract can be renegotiated from time to time in order to avoid the perception of breach that can harm the trust that exists between the employee and the employer. Information can re-establish an employee's sense of control and reduce job insecurity in the transitional period (Ashford, Lee, & Bobko, 1989). The main practical implication of the present study is that higher education institutions and their representatives should always be aware of the promises they have made. Expectations that have been created (either implicitly or explicitly) should not be breached or violated in any way, as these will determine employees' work attitudes and psychological health (Gracia et al., 2007).

References

- Anderson, N., & Schalk, R. (1998). The psychological contract in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 637-647.
- Armstrong, M. (2006). *A handbook of human resource management practice* (10th ed.). London, United Kingdom: Kogan Page.
- Ashford, S. J., Lee, C., & Bobko, P. (1989). Content, causes, and consequences of job insecurity; a theory based measure and substantive test. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 803-829.
- Aydogdu, S., & Asikgil, B. (2011). An empirical study of the relationship among job satisfaction, organizational commitment and turnover intention. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 1, 43-53.
- Barnard, C. I. (1973). *The functions of the executive*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Harvard University Press.
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and power in the social life. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Cantisano, G. P., Dominguez, F. M., & Depolo, M. (2008). Psychological contract breach and outcomes: Combining meta-analysis and structural equation models. *Psichothema*, 20, 487-496.
- Cavanaugh, M. A., & Noe, R. A. (1999). Antecedent and consequences of relational components of the new psychological contract. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 20(3), 323-340.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences* (Rev. Ed). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Cole, M. S., Schaninger, J. R., & Harris, S. G. (2002). The workplace social exchange network: A multi-level conceptual examination. *Group and Organizational Management*, 27, 142-162.
- Conway, N., Guest, D., & Trenberth, L. (2011). Testing the differential effects of changes in psychological contract breach and fulfilment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79, 267-276.
- Cross, M, Mungadi, R., & Rouhani, S. (2002). From policy to practice: Curriculum reform in South African education. *Comparative Education*, *38*, 171-187.
- De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2006). Autonomy and workload among temporary employees: Their effects on job satisfaction, organizational commitment, life satisfaction and self-rated performance. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 13, 441-459.

- Diedericks, E. (2012). Flourishing of employees in the information technology industry in South Africa. (Unpublished doctoral thesis.) North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Donaldson, T., & Dunfee, W. (2002). Ties that bind in business ethics: Social contracts and why they matter, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 26, 1853-1865.
- Edwards, J. C., & Karau, S. J. (2007). Psychological contract or social contract? Development of the Employment Contracts Scale. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 13, 67-78.
- Eisenberger, R., Huntington, R., Hutchison, S., & Sowa, D. (1986). Perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 500-507.
- Gakovic, A., & Tetrick, L. E. (2003). Psychological contract breach as a source of strain for employees. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 18, 235-246.
- Gavin, J. H., & Mason, R. O. (2004). The virtuous organisation: The value of happiness in the workplace. *Organizational Dynamics*, *33*, 379-392.
- Gracia, F. J., Silla, I., Peiró, J. M., & Fortes-Ferreira, L. (2007). The state of the psychological contract and its relation to employees' psychological health. *Psychology in Spain*, 11, 33-41.
- Guest, D. E., & Conway, N. (1997). *Motivation and the psychological contract*. Issues in People Management. No 21, IPD, London.
- Guzzo, R. A., Noonan, K. A., & Elron, E. (1994). Expatriate managers and the psychological contract. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *97*, 617-626.
- Hayes, A. F., & Preacher, K. J. (in press). Indirect and direct effects of a multicategorical agent in statistical mediation analysis. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Henry, C., & Jenkins, R. (1997). Psychological contracts and new deals. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 7, 38-44.
- Hornung, S., Rousseau, D. M., & Glaser, J. (2009). Why supervisors make idiosyncratic deals: antecedents and the outcomes of i-deals from a managerial perspective. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24, 738-764.
- Isaksson, A. (2002). Trade credit in Kenyan manufacturing: Evidence from plant level data. Working paper. www.unido.org./userfiles/PuffK/SIN_WPS04.pdf
- Isaksson, K., Bernhard, C., Claes, R., De Witte, H., Guest, D., Krausz, M., Peiro, J. M., Mohr, G., & Schalk, R. (2003). PSYCONES. Results from pilot phase. Working Paper 2-HPSE-CT-2002-00121 Date of issue: 2003/09/15.

- Kalleberg, A. L. (2000). Nonstandard employment relations: Part-time, temporary and contract work. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*, 341-365.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (1998). Social well-being. Social Psychology Quarterly, 61(2), 121-140.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2000). Subjective change and its consequences for well-being. *Motivation and Emotion*, 24, 67–84.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2005). Mental illness and/or mental health? Investigating the axioms of the complete state model of health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 539–548.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist*, 62, 95–108.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2009). Atlanta: Brief description of the Mental Health Continuum Short Form (MHC-SF). Retrieved from http://www.sociology.emory.edu/ckeyes/.
- Keyes, C. L. M., & Annas, J. (2009). Feeling good and functioning well: distinctive concepts in ancient philosophy and contemporary science. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4, 197–201.
- Keyser, E. (2010). The changing employment relationship in the chemical industry: The role of employment and psychological contract. (Unpublished doctoral thesis). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Knights, J. A., Kennedy, B. J., & Cook, J. (2005). Psychological contract violation: Impacts on job satisfaction and organizational commitment among Australian senior public servants. *Applied Human Resource Management Research*, 10, 57-72.
- Lawler III, E. E., & Finegold, D. (2000). Individualizing the organization: past, present, and future. *Organizational Dynamics*, 29(1), 1-15.
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The nature and causes of job satisfaction. In M. D. Dunnette (Ed.), Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology (pp. 1297-1349). Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- Maharaj, K., Ortlepp. K., & Stacey, A. (2008). Psychological contract and employment equity practices: A comparative study. *Management Dynamics*, 17, 16-26.
- Marks, A. (2001). A developing a multiple foci conceptualization of the psychological contract. *Employee Relations*, 23(4), 454-467.
- Matthewman, L., Rose, A., & Hetherington, A. (2009). *Work psychology*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- McLean Parks, J., Kidder, D. L., & Gallagher, D. G. (1998). Fitting square pegs into round holes: Mapping the domain of contingent work arrangements onto the psychological contract. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 197-730.
- Moore, J. E. (2002). One road to turnover: An examination of work exhaustion in technology professionals. *MIS Quarterly*, *24*, 141-168.
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric theory* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Paz-Fuchs, A. (2009). The social contract revisited. Work, employment and industrial relations in the modern social contract state. Oxford, United Kingdom: The Foundation of Law, Justice and Society.
- Polivca, A. E. & Nardone, T. (1989). The definition of contingent work. *Monthly Labor Review*, 112, 9-16.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediational analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76, 408–420.
- Price, J. L. (1997) Handbook of organisational measurement. *International Journal of Manpower*, 18, 305-558.
- Pugno, M., & Depedri, S. (2009). *Job performance and job satisfaction: An integrated survey*. Discussion Paper No. 4, 2009. http://www.unit.it/files/04-09-puno.pdf.
- Robinson, S. L., Kraatz, M. S., & Rousseau, D. M. (1994). Changing obligations and the psychological contract: A longitudinal study. *The Academy of Management Journal*, *37*, 137-152.
- Robinson, S. L., & Morrison, E. W. (1995). Psychological contracts and OCB: The effects of unfulfilled obligations on civic virtue behaviour. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, *16*, 289-298.
- Robinson, S. L., & Rousseau, D. M. (1994). Violating the psychological contract: Not the exception but the norm. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 15, 245-259.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1989). Psychological and implied contracts in organizations. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 2, 121-139.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1990). New hire perceptions of their own and their employer's obligations: A study of psychological contracts. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 11, 389-400.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1995). *Psychological contracts in organisations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2001). The idiosyncratic deal: Flexibility versus fairness? *Organizational Dynamics*, 29, 260-273.

- Rousseau, D. M. (2006). The shift in risk from employers to workers in the new employment relationship. In E. E. Lawler, & J. O'Toole (Eds.), *America at work: Choices and challenges* (pp. 153-172). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Russell, J. E. A. (2008). Promoting subjective well-being at work. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 16, 117-131.
- Shahnawaz, M. G., & Jafri, M. H. (2009). Job attitudes as predictor of employee turnover among stayers and leavers/hoppers. *Journal of Management Research*, *9*, 159-166.
- Shaughnessy, J. J., Zechmeister, E. B., & Zechmeister, J. S. (2011). *Research methods in psychology*. (9th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Shore, .L. M., & Barksdale, K. (1998). Examining the degree of balance and level of obligation in the employment relationship: A social exchange approach. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 731-744.
- Sillamäe, J. (2010). Relating employee satisfaction and voluntary turnover. *Review of International Comparative Management*, 11, 350-360.
- Slabbert, J. A., & Swanepoel, B. J. (2001). *Introduction to employment relations management*. Durban, South Africa: Butterworths.
- SPSS Inc. (2012). SPSS20.0 for Windows. Chicago, IL: SPSS Inc.
- Staw, B.M., Sutton, R.I., & Pelled, L.H. (1994). Employee positive emotion and favourable outcomes at the workplace. *Organizational Science*, *5*, 51-71.
- Steyn, H. S. (2002). Practically significant relationships between two variables. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 28, 10–15.
- Suazo, M. M., Turnley, W. H., & Mai-Dalton, R. R. (2005). The role of perceived violation in determining employees' reaction to psychological contract breach. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 12, 24-36.
- Sutton, G., & Griffin, M. A. (2004). Integrating expectations, experiences, and psychological contract violations: A longitudinal study of new professionals. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 77, 493-514.
- Turnley, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (1999). The impact of psychological contract violations on exit, voice, loyalty, and neglect. *Human Relations*, *52*, 895-922.
- Turnley, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2000). Re-examining the effects of psychological contract violations: Unmet expectations and job dissatisfaction as mediators. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 25-42.

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The purpose of this chapter is to draw conclusions from the two articles comprising this study. Furthermore recommendations are made for higher education institutions and finally, future research opportunities are presented.

4.1 CONCLUSIONS

Firstly, the conclusions of the research are drawn.

Every society has jobs that need to be done in order to survive and to improve its members' lives (Gavin & Mason, 2004). Therefore, work is an important source of peoples' well-being. Employees within higher education institutions face a complex environment and play an important role in the reconstruction and development in South Africa (Cross, Mangandi, & Roushasie, 2002; Marais, Grobbelaar, & Potgieter, 1997). Employees have been experiencing more challenges in the workplace than ever before (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). They spend more time at work and because they have less leisure time, they have fewer opportunities to seek meaning in their lives (Gavin & Mason, 2004). These factors have an impact on the well-being and happiness of employees in higher education institutions.

Russell (2008, p. 128) points out that researchers and practitioners need to "explore how different work practices can assist in creating more positive workplaces that lead to healthy employee outcomes (job satisfaction, well-being)". Subjective well-being is a broad term referring to positive cognitive or affective states and includes positive emotions, life satisfaction and low negative emotions. Controversy exists on how to measure subjective well-being and studies more relied on first-person reports on numerical state (Angner, Ray, Saag, & Allison, 2009). Therefore, fundamental to the type of relationship that develops between employees and employers is the employers' survival and employee well-being. In the workplace, relationships manifest in different contracts, including the employment contract, psychological contract and social contract.

The employment relationship may be a fundamental source of social relationships and personal fulfilments, but also a source of subordination and exploitation (Paz-Fuchs, 2009). As mentioned by Cole, Schaninger and Harris (2002), the social exchanges are predictive of employees exhibiting positive work behaviour (lower intention to quit) and attitudes (job satisfaction). Social exchanges occurring between employees and the employer go well beyond simple economic exchange. The social exchange theory is the basis for understanding employment relationships. A lack of balance in the fulfilment of obligations in this social exchange relationship might lead to negative consequences (Blau, 1964).

Chapter 1 included the problem statement and the chapter ended with the research objectives (general and specific). The specific objectives formulated at the end of Chapter 1 formed the next two chapters that included Article 1 and Article 2 in this dissertation.

The first objective was to conceptualize the employment contract, psychological contract, social contract, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, well-being, intention to quit, and the relationship between these constructs, as conceptualised in literature. The second objective examined how employees' work experiences relate to their levels of agreement with the different types of contracts (employment contract, social contract and psychological contract). The third objective studied the relationship among employees' type of contracts, biographical information, job satisfaction, and intention to quit.

The landscape of higher education in South Africa is characterised by dramatic changes. Changes in workplace practices have been driven by changes to statute law and lead to a fundamental shift in the employment-, psychological- and social contracts (McCarthy, 2004). Transformational changes do not only lead to changes in the work environment, but also have an influence on the employment relationship (Linde & Schalk, 2006). A litigious culture has emerged at the workplace due to the rapid growth of employment legislation, and management needs to develop new strategies and policies regarding the employment-, psychological and social contract for the future in order to stay relevant as well as to ensure compliance with employment legislation (Grahl & Teage, 2009).

Understanding the employment relationship requires a multilevel approach through which the individual dimension reflects the individual agreements between the employee and employer which take the form of an employment contract, psychological contract and social contract

(Slabbert & Swanepoel, 2001). This employment agreement between the employee and the employer is not cast in stone, because amendment of it can take place over time through negotiations known as idiosyncratic deals, and employers need to manage these idiosyncratic deals properly otherwise their proliferations can undermine trust and cooperation of employees at the workplace (Rousseau, 2001). The employment relationship may be customized through the construct idiosyncratic deals and a shift in the original employment agreement then becomes evident (Rousseau, 2005). Idiosyncratic deals (i-deals) are crafted arrangements that meet the specific needs of individual employees and the very nature of each agreement differs from that of agreements made with another employee by the employer (Ng & Feldman, 2008).

The results showed that age had a significant effect on perceptions of state of the psychological contract: work conditions, People in the age group 20-25 experienced more fulfilment of the state of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, compared to the 44-49 age group and the older than 56 age group. The expectations and obligations of younger employees differ from those of older employees (Bal, 2009; Schein, 1980). Turnley and Feldman (1999b) found that younger employees respond less strongly to violation of the psychological contract. Rousseau (2001) and Bal et al. (2008) found that older employees react stronger than their younger counterparts to violation of the psychological contract because they have built up a more stable employment relationship with the employer.

Tenure had a significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions, and psychological contract violation. The results showed that people with one year or less work experience showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, than those with 2-5 and 15-20 years' experience. People with one year or less and 2-3 years' work experience showed statistically significantly higher scores on psychological contract non-violation compared to those with more than 20 years' work experience. De Cuyper and De Witte (2005), in their study, found that employees with a longer tenure have a lower level of state of psychological contract than younger employees, and this depends largely on the fact that the trust or perceptions of fairness employees have over time erodes as the employer does not honour his obligations. De Beer (2010) found that employees with less than a year tenure have a higher state of psychological contract than employees who have been working for longer periods of time. Meyer and Allen (1984)

suggest that longer-tenured employees believe that they should receive more in return from the organisation for what they have contributed over the years because they have done more for the organisation than younger employees. This may be because employees who have longer tenure believe that they have built up a certain amount of trust in the relational contract with the employer against those employees who have only been working for the organisation for a few years. Shore and Barksdale (1998) and Tsui, Pearce, Porter, and Tripoli (1997) found that the psychological contract is positively related to trust and employees' perceptions of fairness, and negatively related to intention to quit.

Type of contract had a statistically significant effect on state of the psychological contract: work conditions. The results showed that employees with temporary contracts showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, compared to those with permanent contracts. According to Anderson and Schalk (1998), the type of contract is based on reciprocity and is something implicit. Rousseau (1995) states that a psychological contract can only exist if both the employee and employer believe that an arrangement between them exists by accepting to honour the obligations thereof.

Guest and Conway (2002) found that temporary employees reported a better state of psychological contract than permanent employees. Similarly, Keyser (2010), in her study, found that temporary employees reported a better state of psychological contract than permanent employees. The treatment employees receive from the employer will, to a great extent, reflect their commitment to the organisation. If employees believe that the employer is fulfilling his obligations, they will feel compelled and obligated to honour their obligations to the organisation and try their utmost best not to cause the organisation any harm (Gouldner, 1960).

Gender had a statistically significant effect on the state of the psychological contract: work conditions and non-violation of the psychological contract. Males showed more fulfilment of the psychological contract as far as work conditions are concerned, compared to females. Males also showed less violation of the psychological contract, compared to females. De Beer (2010) found that males experience a significantly higher state of psychological contract than do females. Steyn (2009) reported that females experience higher levels of state of the psychological contract than do males. Keyser (2010) found that female employees experience higher state of psychological contract levels than do male employees.

Tenure and type of contract have statistically significant effects on experiences of the employment contract. Employees in the age category 20-25 obtained lower scores compared to employees in age groups older than 38 years. The type of contract also has a statistically significant effect on the experiences of the employment contract. Temporary employees obtained lower scores on experiences of the employment contract compared to permanent employees. Coyle-Shapiro and Kessler (2002) found that temporary and permanent employees hold different expectations regarding their employment relationship. Conway and Briner (2002) found that temporary employees perceive their psychological contract to be more favourable because of the fact that there are lower expectations from the employer. Van Dyne and Ang's (1998) study showed that temporary employees, in view of the social exchange perspective, adopt a more transactional view regarding their employment relationship. Van Dyne and Ang's (1998) study showed that temporary employees expect less of their employer regarding their psychological contract than do permanent employees. Guest (2004) found that temporary employees mostly experience a less fulfilled psychological contract, probably due to the fact that they have fewer promotion opportunities.

The fourth objective investigated the relationships among employees' work experience, type of contracts, job satisfaction and intention to quit. The fifth objective investigated the relationships among the types of contracts and the perceptions of obligations, violation of the psychological contract, job satisfaction, and intention to quit. The sixth objective determined whether violation of contract results in lower job satisfaction and well-being and higher intention to quit.

Idiosyncratic employment arrangements are special terms of employment negotiated between individual workers and their employers (present or prospective) that satisfy both parties' needs. It is very common for workers to have slightly different deals than their peers because they have a different manager or contribute in a different way. However, because of personal variations such as educational background or previous work history, some features of the individual employment relationships will be different. Of course, this is nothing new. What is new is the employing organisation's recognition of these differing expectations, needs and priorities. Idiosyncrasy implies that, although there may be mutuality between employees and their employers whereby each employee and the employer are in agreement about contract terms that apply to the focal employee, uniformity of beliefs among employees does not exist.

On the other hand, psychological contracts that are both uniform and mutual imply that there is general agreement on psychological contract terms across organisational actors. Understanding the degree to which employees' psychological contracts are idiosyncratic or uniformly held with others has significant practical implications for management. Employees' interpretation of information from their employer and others, their observation of activities and actions in the workplace, together with their personal dispositions, are theorized to create idiosyncratic contract attitudes in the minds of employees (Rousseau, 1995, 2001).

Organisational health and wellness, when explored, can increase the ability of higher education institutions to work towards economic development while simultaneously promoting the wellness as well as quality of work life of academics (Rothmann & Cilliers, 2007).

Robinson, Kraatz, and Rousseau (1994) assert that the reactions demonstrated by employees may vary, depending on the contract that has been violated. Employees are less likely to show adverse reaction when violation is taking place. When obligations of permanent employees are violated, it is regarded as much more serious to employees, and they are strongly affected. The social relationship may even be in jeopardy (erosion of trust) and a total destruction of the employment relationship may even occur, i.e. the employee may feel that the employer no longer values the relational contract and will thus experience a loss of job security and then demonstrate less engagement (not perform extra-role behaviours) because he/she does not feel obligated to do so.

Two forms of subjective well-being are relevant for this study, namely flourishing/languishing and job satisfaction. Keyes and Annas (2009) define subjective well-being as the appraisals individuals make regarding the quality of their lives, which included feeling good and functioning well. Keyes (2007) described flourishing as a pattern of positive feelings and positive functioning in life. On the opposite continuum is *languishing*, which can be defined as the absence of mental health.

Psychological contract fulfilment and less work experience predicted 10% of the variance in job satisfaction. The dimension of psychological contract fulfilment, which predicts job satisfaction, is fulfilment of expectations regarding work conditions. Employees with less work experience and whose expectations regarding work conditions are fulfilled by the

employer were more satisfied with their job's, compared to those who had more work experience and whose expectations regarding work conditions were not fulfilled. However, being satisfied seems to be more strongly associated with their psychological contracts not being violated. Age also seems to play a small role here; older employees that did not experience psychological contract violation were more satisfied with their jobs at the higher education institution. Regarding flourishing of employees, the results showed that only psychological contract violation impacted moderately on employees' emotional-, psychological- and social well-being. Isaksson et al. (2003), in their study, found that violation of the psychological contract is associated with lower levels of employee well-being.

Employees' work experience and psychological contract fulfilment predicted turnover intention of employees in this study. However, when psychological contract violation was considered in addition to these factors, only psychological contract violation predicted turnover intention of employees significantly and strongly. Psychological contract violation, flourishing and job satisfaction had a strong effect on turnover intention.

Analyses of the indirect effects revealed that psychological contract fulfilment indirectly impacted job satisfaction and flourishing via psychological contract violation. These results provide support for the important role of both psychological contract fulfilment and non-violation of the psychological contract for the subjective well-being of employees in a higher education institution. Psychological contract violation indirectly impacted turnover intention via job dissatisfaction and low flourishing of employees. Diedericks (2012) found that when IT professionals perceive violation of the psychological contract, their job satisfaction and flourishing decreased significantly while their turnover intention increased. Diedericks (2012) also found that psychological contract violation had indirect effects on job satisfaction, turnover intention and flourishing.

The findings emphasise that psychological contract fulfilment and non-violation are the foundations of sound employment relations in the exchange relationship. Fulfilment of the psychological contract indirectly impacted various individual outcomes (e.g. job satisfaction and well-being) and organisational outcomes (e.g. turnover) via psychological contract violation). Psychological contract violation strongly and indirectly impacted turnover intention via job (dis)satisfaction and un-wellbeing (Diedericks, 2012).

4.2 LIMITATIONS

Firstly a definite limitation was the use of the cross-sectional research design making it difficult to prove the causal relationships between the constructs. The causal relationships between the independent variables and outcomes could not be studied and could be categorized as symptoms rather than antecedents. The findings in the study were based on correlation data, which makes it impossible to prove causality of relationships.

Secondly, the relatively small sample size regarding gender and culture compares to the number of variables. The homogeneous nature of this sample limits the generalization of findings to other occupational groups.

Thirdly, the study also relied on self-report instruments. The self-reported data might be contaminated by common method variance, as both independent and dependent variables are based upon one source of information (Spector & Jex, 1991).

4.3 RECOMMENDATIONS

The Industrial Sociology and Employment Relations fields play a definite role in ensuring the enforcement of equal rights in South Africa. Higher education institutions address the skills shortage head-on and South Africa being a developing country has a higher demand for qualified individuals than what currently is available (Hamlyn, 2007). The competitive advantage organisations need, can only be addressed by means of an effective employment relations/labour relations plan. Higher education institutions play an essential part in this plan of skills development in South Africa. Employees can only generate capital through competence that originates in knowledge and changed behaviour of which higher education institutions are the initiators (HR Focus, 2004).

The recommendations to the management of higher education institutions and for future research are discussed in this section.

4.3.1 Recommendations for higher education institutions

Management at higher education institutions need to manage the attitudes of employees continuously to maintain the positive emotional state of employees so that they are willing to engage and contribute to the achievement of organisational goals (Barkhuizen & Rothmann, 2006). Management should intervene to ensure support of employees. It is of vital importance that communication channels be established for ensuring illumination of role ambiguity, and improving relationships between employees and their immediate supervisors and top management. Better communication will also ensure that employees receive accurate information enabling them to make informed decisions in doing so. Establishing positive attitudes amongst employees will create a less problematic work environment at higher education institutions and aid academics in engaging in the important role they have to fulfil in developing the minds of the future manpower that will assist the process of reconstructing and developing South Africa (Cross et al., 2002).

Management needs to create opportunities for the renegotiation of the psychological contracts in existence. Management must at all cost avoid psychological contract violation by fulfilling promises they had made regarding the following issues: training and development, supervision and feedback, promotion and advancement, long-term job security, management of change, power and responsibility, and work environment, since these are the issues employees have negotiated with the employer (psychological contract) although they do not appear in the written employment contract. Principles of workplace justice and effective communication need to be embedded in the organisation's culture and be visible to employees in their interaction with management when the psychological contract is negotiated and amended (Knights, Kennedy, & Cook, 2005).

Most of these issues are negotiated during the recruitment process, but they evolve over time and that is why good communication is essential in the employment relationship so that the terms of the psychological contract can be renegotiated from time to time in order to avoid the perception of breach that can harm the existing trust between the employee and the employer. Information can re-establish an employee's sense of control and reduce job insecurity in the transitional period (Ashford, Lee, & Bobko, 1989). The main practical implication of the study at hand is that higher education institutions and their representatives should always be aware of the promises they have made (implicitly or explicitly) to

employees and that employees at all times should perceive that obligations promised are being fulfilled and that the trust they have in the employer is not violated, because this will determine the employees' future attitude and psychological health (Gracia, Silla, Peiró, & Fortes-Ferreira, 2007).

Higher education institutions need to embrace the importance of ensuring that employees are kept happy, since studies reveal that positive affect plays an important mediating role in respect to employee reactions to perceived unfairness (Isen & Baron, 1991). Pro-social behaviour can be a natural consequence when employees at higher education institutions are treated fairly and the agreed obligations are met by the employer; these behavioural patterns displayed by employees represent joining and quitting with the organisation, cooperating with co-employees that can lead to their well-being, suggesting ways of improving the organisation and last but not least, speaking favourably about the organisation to outsiders (Brief & Motowidlo, 1986).

The results in this study are crucial to higher education institutions if they want to be relevant in the twenty first century. The employment relation is built on a healthy psychological contract that can only be if its core is understood and respected by the role players. The trust the employees have in the employer is kept by the employer keeping his promised obligations. If employers do not fulfil their obligations, employees have a higher intention to quit.

In this research it was found that a lack of knowledge regarding the psychological- and social contracts is the main reason for employees' disengaged behaviour at higher education institutions. It is recommended that future research focus on and reduce any limitations of previous research in order to build on a theoretical base specifically tailored to develop the South African labour relations field.

4.3.2 Recommendations for future research

Future research should further the development of building a theoretical framework that gives a true reflection and account of the labour relations situation as it is in South Africa. To obtain larger samples, future studies at other higher education institutions can be conducted by making use of an electronic survey questionnaire so that it can be more representative in

terms of gender and cultural groups in South Africa. Future studies at higher education institutions can also explore the relationship between psychological contract fulfilment, basic psychological need satisfaction and flourishing and the impact of violation of the psychological contract on individual and organisational outcomes of these employees. Future studies could also probably focus more on the experiences of perhaps specifically academic employees regarding their idiosyncratic relationships within the higher education institution; and also the violation of the psychological contract and effects thereof on this relationship; and the influence thereof on the specific individual outcomes, namely life satisfaction, job satisfaction, job insecurity, job engagement and organisational outcomes and employee well-being in a positive paradigm.

References

- Anderson, N., & Schalk, R. (1998). The psychological contract in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 637-647.
- Angner, E., Ray, M. N., Saag, K. G., & Allison, J. J. (2009). Health and happiness among adults: A community-based study. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*, 503-512.
- Ashford, S. J., Lee, C., & Bobko, P. (1989). Content, causes, and consequences of job insecurity; a theory based measure and substantive test. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 803-829.
- Bal, P. M. (2009). *Age and psychological contract breach in relation to work outcomes*. (Academisch Proefschrift). Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Vrije Universiteit.
- Bal, P. M., De Lange, A. H., Jansen, P. G. W., & Van Der Velde, M. E. G. (2008). Psychological contract breach and job attitudes: A meta-analysis of age as a moderator. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 72, 143-158.
- Barkhuizen, N., & Rothmann, S. (2006). Work engagement of academic staff in South African higher education institution. *Management Dynamics*, 15, 38-46.
- Brief, A. P., & Motowidlo, S. J. (1986). Prosocial organizational behaviors. *Academy of Management Review*, 11, 710-725.
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and power in the social life. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Cole, M. S., Schaninger, J. R., & Harris, S. G. (2002). The workplace social exchange network: A multilevel conceptual examination. *Group and Organizational Management*, 27, 142-162.
- Cole , M. S., Schaninger, J. R., & Harris, S. G. (2002). The workplace social exchange network: A multilevel conceptual examination. *Group and Organizational Management*, 27, 142-162.
- Conway, N., & Briner, R. B. (2002). Full-time versus part-time employees: Understanding the links between work status, the psychological contract, and attitudes. London, United Kingdom: University of London.
- Coyl-Shapiro, J., & Kessler, I. (2002). Exploring reciprocity through the lens of the psychological contract: Employee and employer perspectives. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 11*, 69-86.
- Cross, M, Mungadi, R., & Rouhani, S. (2002). From policy to practice: Curriculum reform in South African education. *Comparative Education*, *38*, 171-187.

- De Beer, S. (2010). The psychological contract, job insecurity and the intention to quit of security employees in the Vaal Triangle. (Unpublished Master's dissertation). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2005). Job insecurity: mediator or moderator of the relationship between type of contract and various outcomes. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 31, 79-86.
- Diedericks, E. (2012). Flourishing of employees in the information technology industry. (Unpublished doctoral thesis.) North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Gavin, J. H., & Mason, R. O. (2004). The virtuous organisation: The value of happiness in the workplace. *Organizational Dynamics*, *33*, 379-392.
- Gouldner, A. W. (1960). The norm of reciprocity: A preliminary statement. *American Sociological Review*, 25, 161-178.
- Gracia, F. J., Silla, I., Peiró, J. M., & Fortes-Ferreira, L. (2007). The state of the psychological contract and its relation to employees' psychological health. *Psychology in Spain*, 11, 33-41.
- Guest, D. E. (2004). The psychology of the employment relationship: An analysis based on the psychological contract. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *53*, 541-555.
- Guest, D. E., & Conway, N. (2002). *Public and private sector perspectives on the psychological contract.* London, United Kingdom: CIPD.
- Grahl, J., & Teague, P. (2009). *Social and industrial relations: The foundation for law justice and society*. Oxford, United Kingdom: University of Oxford.
- Hamlyn, N. (2007). Avante garde critical studies. Rodopi, 12, 249-260.
- HR Focus. (2004). Exclusive survey: HR has many ideas, but little support for succession preparation. *HR Focus*, 1-4. Retrieved from http://www.compcom.co.za.
- Isaksson, K., Bernhard, C., Claes, R., De Witte, H., Guest, D., Krausz, M., Peiro, J. M., Mohr, G., & Schalk, R. (2003). PSYCONES. Results from pilot phase. Working Paper 2-HPSE-CT-2002-00121 Date of issue: 2003/09/15.
- Isen, A. M., & Baron, R. A. (1991). Positive affect as a factor in organizational behaviour. *Research in Organizational Behaviour, 13*, 1-53.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist*, 62, 95–108.

- Keyes, C. L. M., & Annas, J. (2009). Feeling good and functioning well: distinctive concepts in ancient philosophy and contemporary science. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4, 197–201.
- Keyser, E. (2010). The changing employment relationship in the chemical industry: The role of employment and psychological contract. (Unpublished doctoral thesis). North-West University, Vanderbijlpark, South Africa.
- Knights, J. A., Kennedy, B. J., & Cook, J. (2005). Psychological contract violation: Impacts on job satisfaction and organizational commitment among Australian senior public servants. *Applied H.R.M. Research*, 10, 57-72.
- Linde, B., & Schalk, R. (2006). Influence of pre-merger employment relations and individual characteristics on the psychological contract. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 38, 305-320.
- Marais, H. C., Grobbelaar, J. W., & Potgieter, K. M. (1997). *Critical issues in South African Higher Education Reform*. Pretoria, South Africa: SAUVCA Publications Series.
- McCarthy, T. (2004) *Social responsibility in a changing workplace: A comment.* Employment Relations Record (pp. 1-7).
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1984). Testing the side-bet theory of organisational commitment: Some methodological considerations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69, 362-378.
- Ng, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2008). Can you get a better deal elsewhere? The effects of psychological contract replicability on organizational commitment over time. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 73, 268-277.
- Paz-Fuchs, A. (2009). The social contract revisited: Work, employment and industrial relations in the modern social contract state. Oxford, United Kingdom: University of Oxford.
- Robinson, S. L., Kraatz, M. S., & Rousseau, D. M. (1994). Changing obligations and the psychological contract: A longitudinal study. *The Academy of Management Journal*, *37*, 137-152.
- Rothmann, S., & Cilliers, F. V. N. (2007). Present challenges and some critical issues for research in Industrial/Organizational Psychology in South Africa. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 33, 8-17.
- Rousseau, D. M. (1995). *Psychological contracts in organisations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rousseau, D. M. (2001). The idiosyncratic deal: Flexibility versus fairness? *Organizational Dynamics*, 29, 260-273.

- Rousseau, D. E. (2005). I-deals: Idiosyncratic deals employees bargain for themselves. New York, NY: Sharpe.
- Russel, J. E. A. (2008). Promoting subjective well-being at work. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 16, 117-131.
- Schein, E. H. (1980). *Organizational psychology* (3rd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Shore, L. M., & Barksdale, K. (1998). Examining degree of balance and level of obligations in the employment relationship: A social exchange approach. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 731-744.
- Slabbert, J. A., & Swanepoel, B. J. (2001). *Introduction to employment relations management*. Durban, South Africa: Lexis Nexis.
- Spector, P. E., & Jex, S. M. (1991). Relations of job characteristics from multi data sources with employee affect, absence, turnover intentions, and health. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 46-53.
- Steyn, L. F. (2009). The role of the psychological contract among blue-collar employees in the underground coal mining industry. (Unpublished master's dissertation). University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- Tsui, A. S., Pearce, J. L., Porter, L.W., & Tripoli, A. M. (1997). Alternative approaches to the employee-organization relationship: Does investment in employees pay off? *Academy of Management Journal*, 40, 1089-1121.
- Turnley, W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (1999b). A discrepancy model of the psychological contract violation. *Human Resource Management Review*, *9*, 367-386
- Van Dyne, L., & Ang, S. (1998). Organizational citizenship behavior of contingent employees in Singapore. *Academy of Management Journal*, 41, 692-703.